Geological Survey of Finland

Bulletin 330

Microfossils from the Precambrian Muhos formation in Western Finland

by Risto Tynni and Anneli Uutela

Geologian tutkimuskeskus Espoo 1984



Geological Survey of Finland, Bulletin 330

MICROFOSSILS FROM THE PRECAMBRIAN MUHOS FORMATION IN WESTERN FINLAND

by

RISTO TYNNI and ANNELI UUTELA

with 9 figures, two tables and 20 plates

GEOLOGIAN TUTKIMUSKESKUS ESPOO 1984 **Tynni, R. and Uutela, A., 1984.** Microfossils from the Precambrian Muhos formation in Western Finland. *Geological Survey of Finland, Bulletin 330.* 38 pages, 9 figures, two tables and 20 plates.

The majority of the microfossils of the Muhos formation comprise individual large chroococcaceaen forms ($\emptyset > 8 \mu$), and globular clusters of spheroidal cells (Chroococcaceae colonies, Chamaeosiphoneae sporangia). The larger thin- and thick-crusted spheromorphs ($\emptyset 20 - >100 \mu$) are scarce. The genera *Eosynechococcus, Palaeopleuracapsa, Gloecapsamorpha,* and *Floritheca* n. gen. are rare, as are some filamentous forms of the Hormogoneae group. Besides the above mentioned cyanobacteria the material also comprises forms which belong to the bacteria proper or Eubacteriales. Among the most conspicuous, although the most common are forms to be assigned to the acritarchs, and of unknown origin. Some of them probably belong to the green algae. In addition there are in the Muhos formation some other problematic forms, which are presented in the illustrations.

The microbiota corresponds to a near-shore plankton flora.

The cyanobacteria forms are largely the same which have been described from Proterozoic strata of different ages, and which resemble recent forms. Their significance for dating is small, but for the acritarchs there is a narrower biostratigraphic correspondence. The acritarch forms found are known from the end of the Proterozoic, and from the upper and middle Riphean (mainly the upper). The radiometric age of the Muhos formation is according to the K—Ar -method 1300—1400 Ma, but based on the biotype an age of about 1200 Ma would be more correct.

Key words: Microfossils, sedimentary rocks, Chroococcales, acritarch flora, problematic microfossils, biostratigraphy, paleoecology, Proterozoic, Finland, Muhos, Tyrnävä, Liminka

The authors' address:

Geological Survey of Finland SF-02150 Espoo 15, Finland

> ISBN 951-690-204-9 ISSN 0367-522X

Vammala 1984, Vammalan Kirjapaino Oy

CONTENTS

Introduction	5
Regional geology	9
Material, occurrence of microfossils, and methods of study	10
Microfossils	12
Spheroidal cells or spheromorphs ($\emptyset \leq 30 \mu$) possibly of the order	
Chroococcales	15
Vegetative chroococcae colonies	15
Globular colonies	17
Acritarchs	18
Large spheromorph forms	24
Filamentous forms	25
Problematic forms	26
Microbiota of the Muhos formation and biostratigraphic correlation	27
Paleoecological estimations	31
Acknowledgements	33
References	34



INTRODUCTION

The first convincing finds of Precambrian well-preserved microfossils were made from the Gunflint chert in Ontario, Canada (Tyler & Barghoorn 1954). That study led to the rapid development of Precambrian paleobiology. The most well-known localities/objects were the cherty sedimentary rocks of North America and Australia, and within the area of the Soviet Union in addition argillaceous sedimentary rocks. In Finland attention had early turned to the signs of life found in Precambrian formations. Sederholm (1910) described from the schist of the Tampere region a carbon sack, Corycium enigmaticum, whose organic origin was proved by a carbon isotope study (Rankama 1948) and by a microfossil study showing poorly preserved algal cells of croococcaceae type (Matisto 1969, 1974).

The dating of Precambrian formations on micropaleontological grounds is still at the development stage. The monotone selection of microfossil types does not usually contain indicator species typical of a short period of time. The predominance of the forms frequently depends mainly on environmental factors (cf. Hofmann 1976, Knoll & Simonson 1981). During the Precambrian, mainly the Proterozoic, however, certain special types can be observed to have existed, and the filamentous and spheroidal forms had a tendency towards a bigger size. On the basis of these and more developed acritarch forms dating comparisons can be made.

The Muhos formation was not found until the late 1930s and the history of its study is short, but varying. Soon after the finding of the formation, which is covered by Quaternary deposits, Brenner (1941, 1944) suggested for it a Mesozoic age, based on a find of belemnite in the area of the formation. Later however Viluksela (1950, 1951) corrected the information on the origin of the belemnite.

In order to study the formation a number of deep drill-holes were made. The most important of them comprise: a sedimentary rock deposit 894.5 m thick within the area of the village of Tupos (Kalla 1960), a sedimentary rock deposit 452.4 m thick situated to the south of the church of Muhos which is about 27 km to the east of the first deposit, and a drill hole 186 m deep which does not perforate the sedimentary deposit, in the Tyrnävä area about 9 km to the W-SW from the previously mentioned site (Text-fig. 1). Samples from these drillings have been used in this study. No macroscopic biogenic structures were found in them, but Hyyppä (1940) claimed in connection with the Tyrnävä drill log that a little organic material and cells had been found, on which he based his estimation that the formation was younger than the Cambrian.

In 1955 Simonen and Kouvo stated that the rock of the Muhos formation shows the same properties as the Jotnian sandstone. The correspondence was later confirmed by the K-Ar dating of the Muhos formation (Simonen 1960) and by the Rb-Sr datings performed by Kouvo (1977). At present the age of the Muhos formation is estimated at 1300—1400 Ma on the basis of K-Ar and Rb-Sr datings (Simonen 1980b). This age falls into the Middle Proterozoic (1800—1200 Ma, Schopf 1975). According to Bergström the Jotnian formations correspond to 1200—1300 Ma (Bergström *et al.* 1983, p. 32). Timofeev (1966) also suggested an age of about 1200 Ma based on the floratype.

The interest in the formation increased when Marmo (1959) assumed that it contained Pre-



Text-fig. 1. The Muhos formation and the location of the drill cores studied.

cambrian microfossils similar to those described by Timofeev (1958) from the Soviet Union area. The study of the core samples from Tupos led to the finding of algal (and spheromorphous) microfossils, although very scare (Tynni & Siivola 1966), and the material did not very well lend itself to biostratigraphical correlation. The study material was then considerably less complete than today's, but a few additions to the previous study were made in 1978 (Tynni) in connection with the supplement based on the systematics created by Timofeev (1969). The microfossils of the Muhos formation were treated briefly in 1982 also (Alhonen & Tynni).

From the Muhos formation geochemical studies have also been made. A small occurrence of methane is known in the Tyrnävä area. Its origin has been inferred to be in the organic deposits of the Litorina stage of the history of the Baltic Sea (Hyyppä 1935, Heikkinen 1972). One question remains unanswered; whether there is in the same discharge of CH₄ also a small amount from a Proterozoic deposit or from still deeper in the mantle. It should be mentioned that Bergström (Bergström et al. 1983, p. 122) considers some Jotnian sandstone occurrences as possible reservoirs for hydrocarbons originating from the mantle (cf. Gold, in the publication Bergström et al. 1983). According to Hoering (1967) there is kerogen in the Tupos drill-hole at a depth of 234.3 m in the claystone. Heikkinen (1972) interpreted the hydrocarbons as secondary. The relatively high microfossil content of the horizon concerned supports Hoering's conclusion. On the other hand kerogen has been observed also in the



Text-fig. 2. The occurrence of claystone in the Quaternary deposit covering the Muhos formation and in the Hailuoto area.

Posio stinkstone, which is older than the foregoing one (Piispanen & Lähdesmäki 1983).

In the area of the Muhos formation field studies were made in connection with this study in order to get additional observations of the sedimentary rock sequence, especially from its eroded part, but no significant additional information was obtained. The proportion of sedimentary rock in esker material and till of the surface part of the Quaternary sequence, which is 50-80 m in thickness, varied strongly, 0-40 %, and in most instances there was less than 10 % of sedimentary rock (Text-figs. 2 and 3). In the uppermost part, 1.5 m, of the sequence the sedimentary rock fragments had in general vanished (Uutela 1983). Traces of the disintegrated reddish siltstone are instead to be seen in large areas south of the Muhos formation as a coloring of the late-glacial clay (cf. Purokoski 1958, Kukkonen 1978).

The pioneer works of Timofeev (1959, 1963, 1966, 1969) with their numerous detailed drawings have constituted acritarch objects of comparison related to this investigation. Precambrian acritarchs of the Soviet Union area are treated, with photographs, by Jankauskas (1979, 1982), among others. Also the investigation results of Vidal (1976) concerning the microfossils of the Visingsö formation are important for the comparison with the forms of the Muhos formation. The microfossil succession of the Hailuoto sedimentary rocks (Tynni & Donner 1980), presented during recent years, is a significant object of comparison as well.

According to the foregoing study the upper part of the Hailuoto sedimentary rocks corre-



Text-fig. 3. The occurrence of arkosic sandstone in the Quaternary deposit covering the Muhos formation and in the Hailuoto area.

sponds to the Vendian, i.e. it would be considerably younger than the radiometric age of the Muhos formation.

Microfossil-bearing deposits of the same age order as the Muhos formation have been presented from many places around the world. As an example there is the Roper Group in northern Australia, with a minimum age of 1300×10^6 yr. From it algal cells and filaments have been found (Peat *et al.* 1978), partly corresponding to those of the Muhos formation. The Californian Beck Spring dolomite is also of the same age order, $1.2-1.4 \times 10^9$ yr., and it contains among other things small spheromorphs with a reticulate surface (Cloud *et al.* 1969, Gutstadt & Schopf 1969, Pierce & Cloud 1979). The Abzanskaja formation in the Ural area (ca 1260 Ma) contains acritarchs (Jankauskas 1982), part of which are of the same type as those of the Muhos formation. Greater similarities are, however, shown by the forms of the Tersk formation on the Kola Peninsula (ca 1080-1260 Ma) and those of the Muhos formation (Timofeev 1959, 1969). Closer in time to Muhos are, in addition, the Bushimay system of Zaire (Maithy 1975) and the Sokoma iron formation of northern Canada (Knoll & Simonson 1981). Exceptionally big megascopic algae have been presented from the Montana Belt supergroup as well (Walter et al. 1976, Horodyski & Bloeser 1978). An abundance of Precambrian formations containing microfossils older and younger than the Muhos formation are known and in them, as well, certain corresponding algal forms are found (as cited later).



Text-fig. 4. Kieksi conglomerate.

REGIONAL GEOLOGY

The conditions of the bedrock of the southern part of the area can be seen on the map compiled by Enkovaara *et al.* (1952, 1953) on a scale of $1:400\ 000$, and on those compiled by Nykänen (1959) and Kesola (1983) on a scale of $1:100\ 000$. The formation as a whole can be seen on the Simonen's map (1980a) on a scale of $1:1\ 000\ 000$ and it is described in the explanation (1980b). In the more recent of these works attention is paid to the contacts of the forma-

tion, which is almost completely covered by Quaternary deposits (Gibbard 1979). The contacts have defined only in recent years (Lanne & Pernu 1974, Korhonen & Porkka 1975). The Muhos formation, e.g. the exposure of Kieksi conglomerate (Text-fig. 4), has been treated by Brenner (1941, 1944), Okko (1954), and Simonen & Kouvo (1955). Kesola (1981) has described clastic dykes from the surroundings of the Muhos formation, considering them to reflect the fissures and depressions of the depositional basement.

The Muhos formation belongs to the oldest unmetamorphic sediments in Finland, the socalled Jotnian sediments. According to Simonen (1980b) the Jotnian deposits are related to floodplain deposits in the piedmont facies of postgeosynclinal basins. Deposits of the same age are met with also in the areas of Satakunta (sandstone) and the Bothnian Bay (Veltheim 1969, Winterhalter *et. al.* 1981, Floden *et. al.* 1980). The preservation of the relatively large Muhos formation from glacial erosion is due to the sheltered position of the sedimentary rocks. The structure concerned is a rift valley, ca 1 km in maximum depth, 10 km wide on an average, and reaching ca 65 km into the present land. There is a system of fracture lines (Talvitie 1974), crossing the Muhos formation and continuing across the bottom of the Bothnian Bay according to the topography and seismic profiles (Tulkki 1977). The direction corresponds to the direction of the most common fracture lines in Finland (Tuominen *et al.* 1973).

According to radiometric datings performed on the Jotnian sedimentary rocks and on the diabase dykes cutting across them (Simonen 1960, 1980b) the formation is of Middle Proterozoic.

MATERIAL, OCCURRENCE OF MICROFOSSILS, AND METHODS OF STUDY

The samples studied are from drill cores, which have been drilled at Tyrnävä in 1938, Muhos in 1939, and Tupos in 1954. From the Tyrnävä drill core 20 samples were studied, from Muhos 37 and from Tupos 161. The sediment profiles and microfossil-rich sampling points are shown in Text-fig. 5. In places the samples are spaced far apart, which is due to the frequency of oxidized sediment portions. In the oxidized reddish portions the microfossils have not been preserved (cf. Lipman & Timofeev 1957). This shows in all test preparations from reddish portions of the Tupos sequence. It is natural that the thin-walled microbiota was destroyed in oxidizing conditions. The sedimentary rock sequence is oxidized mainly in its middle and lower parts. In the upper part the microfossil content is in general very low, but in connection with the dark graded clayey structures occurring in places (Pl. I: B, C, D) microfossils are abundant. In these places the sampling frequency is exceptionally high. In the Muhos I drilling there were more microfossil-rich levels than in the other places. In addition 15 boulder samples from the gravel pits of the area of the

Muhos formation were studied, including one sample from the rock surface of the Montta power station. Microfossils were mainly studied in preparations made by using the acid maceration method.

Material used in the microfossil study was also studied in thin sections. The material consists of homogeneous siltstone and thinly varved dark-banded claystone. In the siltstone the sorting and roundness of the grains are extremely poor. The strength of the rock is also poor and it disintegrates readily when handled in water. In the dark, clay-rich varves of the varved claystone, where only the biggest mineral grains can be discerned, sepia-colored humus membranes, partly covered with pyrite grains, are conspicuous. A graphite dissemination is common. The light-colored interbeds mainly consist of recrystallized carbonate. In a horizontal section there is in places an evengrained hexagonal pattern ($\emptyset \sim 15\mu$). The pyrite and CuS grains are in the recrystallized parts usually larger than elsewhere. The varved claystone is more resistant than the siltstone. Pl. II shows the structures of the sedimentary rocks.



Text-fig. 5. The drill core sequences studied from the Muhos formation.

The best preserved microfossils usually occur in connection with the fine-grained clay minerals. The carbonate-rich varves have probably crystallized rapidly. By the comparison of the thin sections and the preparations made by acid maceration from the Muhos formation we attempted to cast light on the proportion of original and pseudo-structures in the acritarchs. We came to the conclusion that the pyrite crystals and their combinations as well as carbonate crystals have in places deformed original organic structures. Deformation marks such as those of compression and faulting of internal sedimentary surfaces are also common. At the deeper microfossil-bearing sites the heating of the stratum has blackened the microfossils beyond recognition.

The amount of sample to be used, 10-20 g, was crushed into pieces ca 10 mm in diameter, since this size proved to be the best in order to keep the acritarchs whole. After removing the carbonates from the sedimentary rock with 10 % HCl we used 40-45 % cold HF for the maceration of the silicate minerals.

Treatment with strong hydrofluoric acid proved to be the best method for separation of acritarchs from the rock material. The treatment does not, however, destroy or wear the acritarchs significantly. This fact became apparent e.g. when some microfossils were kept in dilute HF solution for over half a year. The HF treatment was continued for 1 to 3 days or until the sample had disintegrated completely into a sludge, whereafter the colloidal compounds were dissolved by a number of consecutive treatments with hot HCl (10 %). As a heavy liquid a mixture of bromoform and isopropanol was used. The acritarchs are concentrated into this mixture during centrifugation due to their specific gravity of ca 2. Lopuchin (1976) states that the microfossils Menneria-Hymenophacoides are characterized by a low specific gravity, and that they are concentrated into distilled water. In connection with the present study we

also tried concentration into distilled water, but no positive results were obtained by this method. In the microfossils of the Muhos formation there are impregnations of pyrite, chalcopyrite or chalcosite (Tynni & Siivola 1966), which have increased their specific gravity. As a fixing agent for the preparations Clopenharpix was used. The specimens are numbered and kept in the collections of the Geological Survey of Finland.

The clay- and siltstones of the Muhos formation have undergone density determinations. The results are shown in Table 1.

Table 1. Determinations of specific gravity of silt- and claystones of the Muhos formation (Tupos drill core). The correction factor 0.99780 (22°C) has been used in the determinations.

Depth	Specific gravity	Rock type
155.75	2.563	green varved claystone
163.70	2.500	green/red claystone
165.00	2.479	
166.40	2.479	»»
184.00	2.498	
267.20	2.536	»»
305.00	2.572	green varved claystone
316.90	2.387	gypsum, thin claystone
317 00	2 547	green/red siltstone
330.40	2.546	green varved claystone
370.25	2.556	green/red claystone
394.65	2.591	
406.05	2.570	greenish grey siltstone, gypsum lens
492.75	2.572	greenish grey siltstone
510.00	2.664	red coarse sandstone, carbonate(?)
554.35	2.600	reddish grev siltstone

MICROFOSSILS

The microfossils of the Muhos formation can be divided into the following types: (1) solitary spheroidal cells or spheromorphs with a diameter of $< 30 \mu$, and which possibly belong to the order Chroococcales of the phylum Cyanophyta. They mainly correspond to big single chroococcae forms (cf. Mendelson & Schopf 1982, p. 70). The portion of small forms (< 8 μ) is minor. The vegetative (2) and globular (4) clusters occur as colonies. The bigger globular



core.

forms (> 30 μ) with smooth or divergent surface structure are grouped with (5) the acritarchs (Evitt 1963). The deposits of cells with a dicho- tetrachoton cell division pattern are grouped with (3) the order Pleurocapsales. The filamentous forms comprise unbranched types of the order Oscillatoriales (6), possibly also of the order Nostocales. The problematic forms (7) include spool-shaped forms, possibly belonging to the order Eubacteriales, and unidentified forms which diverge from the foregoing ones.



Text-fig. 7. Size distribution of spheromorphs of Coccoid/Leiosphaeridia type at 3 different levels in the Tupos drill core.

Of the foregoing types the small spheromorphs (1) constitute the most common type (70-95%) in all well-preserved samples. In the Muhos I drill core it occurs in a clear-cut manner on six levels (Text-fig. 6), but in the Tupos drill core on three levels (Text-fig. 7). The globular clusters of spheromorphs constitute the second most common type. Their portion is largest, ca 46\%, at a depth of 102.5 m in the Muhos drill core (Text-fig. 8). The majority of the spheromorphs can be compared to the acritarchs, of which the genus *Leiosphaeridia* is the most common, followed by *Turuchanica* and *Trachyspheridium*. Structurally further specialized types, as *Granomarginata* and *Pterospermella* are extremely rare, and one cannot be completely sure of the primarity of their deposition. Filamentous forms were scarce in the





maceration samples, but in a thin section from a depth of 218.70 m in the Tupos drill core an abundance of worn filamentous forms was found. In the preparation made by the maceration method from the same depth no such forms were found, wherefore worn filamentous forms probably do not withstand the acid maceration method.

Spheroidal cells or spheromorphs ($\emptyset \leq 30 \mu$) possibly of the order Chroococcales

In all places with a more abundant content of microfossils spheromorphs with a diameter of \leq 30 μ constitute the maximum. The most common size is $10-20 \mu$, but in the drill core of Tupos at a depth of 234.10 m it is exceptionally 5—10 μ (Text-figs. 6 and 7). The size ranges presented pertain to thin-walled light-colored spheromorphs. The dark types characteristic of the genera Kildinella and Turuchanica are excepted from these ranges. Part of the small spheromorphs may be disintegrated colonies. On the other hand the forms presented belong to the rather small Leiosphaeridia forms, because they also fulfill the definition of this genus of acritarchs. In the systematics we have instead as far as possible observed the algal systematics, and thus the genus Leiosphaeridia is treated in detail later, in connection with the acritarchs.

The small spheromorphs ($\emptyset \le 30 \mu$) have a smooth surface. They are, on an average, better preserved than the larger spheromorphs or the

dark forms of the same size. In the present study we have not attempted to divide the foregoing simple spheromorphs into different genera, since the structural details of the walls do not give sufficient grounds for a division. *Huroniospora* Barghoorn, small according to the size classification, is considered to be a coccoid cyanobacterium, and is of rare occurrence in the Muhos formation.

As an example of the chroococcacean cyanobacteria Mendelson and Schopf (1982) mention a form resembling *Glenobotrydion majorium*, with a diameter of ca 30 μ . This form is shown in Pl. I:14 (*op. cit.*).

As a difficulty in the classification of the chroococcales/*Leiosphaeridia* forms there are the diagenetic effects appearing in the wall texture. E.g. in connection with *Gloeodiniopsis lamellosa* Schopf the granulated texture is apparently interpreted as being diagenetic (Mendelson & Schopf 1982).

Vegetative chroococcae colonies

Order Chroococcales Wettstein, 1924 Family Chroococcaceae Nägeli, 1849 Genus *Eosynechococcus* Hofmann, 1976 *Eosynechococcus moorei* Hofmann-type (includes also *E. medius* Hofmann) Pl. VI, Figs 59, 61, 62, 63, 64

DESCRIPTION: Oval or bean-shaped cells, length 5–9 μ , width ca 3 μ , form large colonies: length 70–100 μ . Cells are grouped in various ways, partly forming short, arcuate cell chains, mainly irregular aggregates or parallel cell clus-

ters. At the edge of the colony (Fig. 62) there are small combinations of four cells, divided cells. *Synechococcus* divides transversely by splitting, for which reason the Muhos form is different, and possibly the small combinations of four cells correspond to nannocyte formation.

OCCURRENCE: In the preparation from a depth of 218.35 m in the Tupos drill core there are at least three colonies in prep. 519:1. Similar forms have been described by Hofmann (1976) from the Kasegalik formation, Belcher Islands, whose age is ca 1900 Ma. The same form *(Eosynechococcus medius)* occurs in the upper portion of the Sukhaya Tungusta formation with an age of ca 1000 Ma (Mendelson & Schopf 1982). The same algal type has also been found in the Late-Precambrian Draken conglomerate of Spitsbergen (Knoll 1979).

REMARKS: The ellipsoidal colonial form, $\emptyset \sim 3 \mu$ (Pl. 6), from a depth of 218.35 m in the Tupos drill core resembles the form of Diver (1974), Fig. 1e. They possibly correspond to *Eosynechococcus*. *Eosynechococcus* differs from the oval *Chlamydomopsis* Edhorn 1973 cells by its smaller size, among other things. According to Edhorn (1973) the latter is a Precambrian green alga.

Genus Floritheca n. gen.

Cells 2–4 μ long, ellipsoidal and radially grouped inside globular vesicles. The number of ellipsoidal cells in a vesicle is generally six, the diameter of the vesicle being $6-10 \mu$. The vesicles are attached to one another, forming globular colonies with a diameter of $12-18 \mu$. In some vesicles, in addition to small ellipsoids, closely spaced spherules can be distinguished, ca 0.5 μ in diameter (Text-fig. 9 and Pl. V, Figs. 36 and 37). These spherules probably correspond to the nannocyte formation met with in certain pseudo-vacuoles or Chroococcales forms, or they correspond to pyrite microcrystals. The form described structurally resembles certain species of Gomphosphaeria, whose eggshaped cells are situated radially in a globular vesicle.

TYPE SPECIES: *Floritheca muhosensis* n. sp. DIAGNOSIS: As for genus.

TYPE SPECIMEN: Full-grown form in Text-fig. 9a and Pl. V, Fig. 37, nannocyte form in Fig. 36 (paratype), Muhos formation, Muhos I drill core, depth 251.65 m, GSF (Geological Survey of Finland) prep. 490.

Genus *Gloecapsamorpha* Zalessky 1917 *Gloecapsamorpha* sp. Pl. V, Fig. 38. Cells are ca 3 μ in diameter, and form cystoid part-colonies, 7—15 μ in diameter, which in turn are irregularly grouped into larger colonies. Tupos drill core, depth 235.00 m, GSF prep. 578:1.

Timofeev (1966) has presented observations of this genus mainly from Ordovician deposits, rarely occurring in Vendian deposits. Jankauskas (1982) has described this genus from the Riphean deposits of southern Ural.

Genus Palaeoanacystis Schopf 1968 p. 647

Cells spheroidal — elliptical, thick-walled, occasionally polygonal and angular due to compression. Generally clustered into more or less globular colonies, number of cells may exceed 300. Size of cells $4.3-7.3 \mu$. Cells of colonies not geometrically arranged in respect to the form of the colony.

Palaeoanacystis sp.

Pl. V, Fig. 42

DESCRIPTION: Size of cells $3-4 \mu$, or somewhat smaller than the species *P. vulgaris*, described by Schopf (1968). Cells are arranged into part-colonies in the form of tetrahedrons, which combine into a cylinder-like whole, diameter, ca 20 μ .

OCCURRENCE: Rare form in the Muhos formation, Tupos drill core, depth 218.35 m. Genus *Sphaerophycus* Schopf, 1968 *Sphaerophycus* aff. *parvum* Schopf Pl. VI, Figs. 60, 65, 66, 74

DESCRIPTION: Spherical or ellipsoidal cells are on an average 2 μ in diameter. They form colonies, in which parallel, winding cell lines can be distinguished. The structure corresponds to that which Schopf (1968) describes as irregular masses and pseudofilamentous aggregates.

OCCURRENCE: Rare in the Muhos I drill core, depth 102.0 m. Earlier observations from Bitter Springs (Schopf 1968), Belcher Islands chert (Hofmann 1976), Dismal Lakes Group (Horodyski & Donaldson 1980).

Order Pleurocapsales

Family Pleurocapsaceae

Genus Palaeopleurocapsa Knoll, Barghoorn & Golubić 1975 Pl. V, Figs. 53, 54, 55

Palaeopleurocapsa sp.

Small spheroidal cells (\emptyset ca 2 μ) are grouped into small Chroococcus-type subcolonies and further into hemispherical or broadened deposits. Subcolonies can be distinguished, but no surrounding cystoid membrane. In this respect the form differs from the types *Gloecapsa* and *Entophysalis*, where the subcolonies are inside cystoid, bulging membranes. 17

The form occurring in the Muhos formation resembles one described by Knoll *et al.* (1975) from the Skillogalee dolomite formation, southern Australia, and ca 1000 Ma old, one described by Hofmann (1976) from Belcher Island, and on the other hand, certain recent Pleurocapsa forms. In the Muhos formation no successive pseudoparenchymic cell chains appeared. The form in question may be a *status adultus* form of the blue alga mentioned, or a sporangia form of fairly unregulated cell arrangement.

Globular colonies

Regular globular colonies have been presumed to be endospore formations (Downie 1973, Moorman 1974, Golubić 1976). The colonies of the Muhos formation resemble the endospore clusters of the orders Chamaeosiphonales and Pleurocapsales, but also the spheroidal colonies of the genus *Microcystis* Kützing or the order Pleurocapsales, both of them vegetative. The polygonal patterns (Pl. V, Figs. 33, 34) occurring in some cells resemble the beginning endospore formation of the species *Chroococcopsis gigantea*, described by Geitler (1925). The colonies also resemble volvocacean algae (Kazmierczak 1976, Peat *et al.* 1978).

The cell size of the most frequently occurring colonies is $7-10 \mu$. Their surface may be granulated, but no traces of pyrenoids or nucleus can be discerned. It is a common form in the Muhos I drill core at a depth of 110.0 m.

REMARKS: The form resembles most closely the globular colony type IV described from the Brioverian chert by Chauvel & Schopf (1978). According to them the form is Vendian in age, but Timofeev *et al.* (1980) correlate the deposit in question with the Middle Riphean. The same type has been described from the USSR Precambrian deposits, e.g. from the Mai area (Timofeev 1966, Pl. 61:9), *Synsphaeridium sorediforme*, and from the upper portion of the Riphean in Ukraina (Jankauskas 1982).

In the Muhos formation there are also colonies with smaller cells, resembling the form *Myxococcoides staphylidion*, cell size on an average 5.5 μ , described by Lo (1980) from Lower Yudoma Suite.

The smallest cell sizes in the colonies are comparable to the endospore form of the species *Sphaerocongregus variabilis* (Moorman 1974). Vidal (1976) compares it to *Bavlinella faveolata* Schepeleva. This form, which is most frequently described from the Upper Proterozoic, is of rare occurrence in the Muhos formation.

In the Muhos formation there are also rhombically arranged cell colonies (Pl. IV, Fig. 21). The cell size is at its largest ca 16 μ . The surface is granulated, the shape of the cells spheroidal to slightly polygonal.

Pl. IV, Figs. 22, 23, 24 and 27 show hemispherical colonies, the interior of which seem to be devoid of cell tissue of the same type. The form in Fig. 22 seems to surround a short cylindrical darker filament. In Fig. 23 the cell colony forms a ring, and in Figs. 24 and 27 the resemblance of cell tissue shows in the globular colonies. The size of cells is ca 8 μ , and the colonial growth does not fill the central part tightly. When comparing these structures with those of recent blue algae one possibility in question is a freely floating chroococcales-type colony (Geitler 1925, p. 52). The form may, however, correspond to an unknown type with regard to recent ones. Fig. 22 indicates that the form may be a part of an epiphytical growth. Similar types are some sporangia of forms of the recent class

Phycomycetes (Harder 1931).

In the material there are in addition globular vesicles with densely or sparsely spaced smaller cells inside. They resemble sporangia forms of blue algae and they are treated in connection with *Favosphaeridium* (acritarchs).

Acritarchs

A group of microfossils, the taxonomy of which is based on morphography and which is not bound to the natural plant systematics (Evitt 1963) probably comprises both pro- and eucaryotic forms. Generally such spheromorphs have been interpreted as eucaryotic, which exceed 50 μ in diameter, and which have dense organic bodies interpreted by many workers as possible remnants of organelles (Schopf 1975). It has been estimated that spheromorphs over 60 μ in diameter appeared during the Middle Proterozoic ca 1400 Ma ago (Schopf 1978). According to Horodyski & Bloeser (1978) the larger spheroids are not comparable to the coccoidal cyanophyte forms, but to the encystment stage of eucaryotic algae.

The Proterozoic acritarchs mainly belong to the plankton of seas and lakes, since they occur in claystone but generally not in cherts of the shallow littoral zone, where different blue algae of the benthos are prevalent. In connection with the Muhos formation, the growth environment has corresponded to a near-shore open sea. Genus *Eomicrhystridium* Deflandre 1968

Precambrian organic microfossils, of very small size, generally less than 20 microns, spherical or more or less polyhedral, ornamented with horns or simple spines which are variable in number and may be very reduced. *Eomicrhystridium* sp. 1

Pl. XVI, SEM-fig. 230

DESCRIPTION: Vesicle ellipsoidal, slightly polyhedral. Length ca 5 μ . On the surface small nodules, 5 in the line of 1 μ , they tend to form lines. Opening or depression in the apical end.

OCCURRENCE. Only one observation in the Muhos I drill core at a depth of 262.15 m.

Eomicrhystridium sp. 2

Pl. VII, Figs. 94, 95, 99

DESCRIPTION: Vesicle small, rounded oval, diameter $3-5 \mu$. Small spines are concentrated to the ring-like part of the apical end of the ellipsoid (Figs. 94, 95), where the rupture opening of the vesicle is situated.

OCCURRENCE: Observations from the Tupos drill core, depth 218.75 m and from the Muhos I drill core, depth 142.20 m.

REMARKS: Form resembles the form *Eomarginata striata*, diameter 5–10 μ , presented by Jankauskas (1979, 1982). It has been described from the Lower Riphean deposits of southern Ural.

Genus Eosphaera Barghoorn 1965

Eosphaera sp.

Pl. XII, Figs. 169, 170

The polygonally patterned form resembles *Eosphaera* sp., described by Barghoorn and Tyler (1965) from the Gunflint formation, and a larger form described by Lo (1980) from the Yudoma formation, eastern Siberia. The form from the Muhos formation, however, exceeds these in size, the length of the vesicle complex being $25-30 \mu$.

Genus Favosphaeridium Timofeev (1959) 1966

The genus determination is controversial. Apparently the name is derived from the Latin word *favus*, honeycomb, which denotes a cellular structure. According to the diagnose (Timofeev 1966) the vesicle is 25–100-150 μ in diameter, it is spherical, stout, surface reticulate.

Meshes frequently closed, of the same or different size, angularly rounded to rounded in general view. Type species *F. scandicum* (Timofeev 1966, Pl. 8:3).

REMARKS: Relatively clear-cut species of this genus have been described by Burmann (1972, *Favosphaera*). According to Timofeev *et al.* (1980) there are in the Vern-sur-Seiche algal limestone of northern Brittany, age Upper Brioverian (Middle Riphean), occurrences of *Favosphaera conglobata* Burmann, *F. aequabilis* Burmann, *F. sola* Burmann, and *F. grandifavosa* Burmann.

The forms counted as *Favosphaeridium* in the Muhos formation can be divided into at least two groups: 1. spheromorphs which contain small spheroidal or ellipsoidal vesicles which are separate from one another, and 2. spheromorphs in which small spheroidal vesicles are grouped without gaps at least under the



Text-fig. 9. a, b. *Floritheca muhosensis*, a. vegetative colony with oval cells, b. small spheres in colonies possibly nannocytes; c—h. complex spheromorph types of the Muhos formation. c. *Favosphaeridium* type 1, d. *Favosphaeridium* type 2, e. *Symplassosphaeridium parvum*, f. ringlike sporangium form, h. spherical *Synsphaeridium* sp. Figures not to same scale.

wall of the spheromorph in the surface part. Examples of the forms are shown in Text-fig. 9 and in Pls. V and VIII.

Favosphaeridium sp. type 1

Pl. V, Figs. 43-49, 51, 52

DESCRIPTION: Spheromorph flattened, circumference relatively circular, diameter 23–65 μ , interior vesicles 3–10 μ . Surface of spheromorph rough, central part concentrically depressed or with a large opening (Figs. 43, 46). When the number of cells is small, the form resembles the subspherical colonies of the form *Eoentophysalis dismallakensis*, described by Horodyski & Donaldson (1980).

OCCURRENCE: Solitary occurrences in the Tupos drill core at depths 218.35 and 218.75 m, and in the Muhos I drill core at depths 122.60, 141.10, and 191.00 m.

Favosphaeridium sp. type 2

Pl. VIII, Figs. 105-111, 113-121

DESCRIPTION: Spheromorph. Leiosphaeridiatype, thin-walled, generally 25—50 μ in diameter, diameter of interior, densely spaced vesicles ca 3 μ , rarely ca 2 μ . Vesicles may be missing in the central part (Fig. 105, in the center possibly precipitate of cell fluid).

OCCURRENCE: Of relatively rare occurrence in the Tupos and Muhos I drill cores.

REMARKS: The cellular structure which occurs regularly inside the wall has not been interpreted as diagenetic, but it can be considered an endosporangium form of the Cyanobacteria, larger than the one described by Moorman (1974). Examples of diagenetic pseudostructures caused by pyrite crystals are Figs. 118 and 121, in which the cellular patterns are irregular in form and size.

In a comparison of types 1 and 2, features in common are the spheromorph proper and the small vesicle type inside it. Differences are in the density of vesicles and, to some extent, in their size. The spheromorph with its separate small vesicles is probably comparable to an already opened endosporangium or mother cell (Fig. 46), from which the majority of former 20

spores have separated and turned into cocci. Genus *Granomarginata* Naumova 1960

Spheroidal or ellipsoidal wall, thickened edges. Surface of exine granulated, folded or devoid of wrinkled folds. Diameter $10-15\mu$. Type species *G. prima* Naumova 1960. Larger forms have later been added to the genus. *Granomarginata* sp.

Pl. XI, Figs. 142, 147

DESCRIPTION: Central vesicle spheroidal or

ellipsoidal, surface granulated. Diameter 20– 28 μ . In the equatorial area a thin, continuous border, ca 3 μ wide.

OCCURRENCE: Of very rare occurrence in the Tupos drill core, depth 218.75 m, and in the Muhos I drill core, depth 191.00 m.

Genus *Leiosphaeridia* Eisenack 1958, emended by Downie & Sarjeant 1963

Spherical to ellipsoidal bodies without procecces, often collapsed or folded, with or without pylomes. Walls granular, punctate or unornamented; thin. Without division into fields and without transverse or longitudinal furrows or gridles.

SYNONYMS: Leiosphaeridium Timofeev, Leiopsosphaera Naumova, Protoleiosphaeridium Timofeev, Kildinella Timofeev.

REMARKS: With respect to size, a very variable genus of acritarchs. Small forms have been classified as cyanobacteria. In the present study the separation of forms is based on size determination. The most common size classes in the Muhos mudstone are $10-20 \mu$ and $20-30 \mu$, but in the upper portions of the drill cores there are also smaller and larger thin-walled types of *Leiosphaeridia* sp. is 140 μ in diameter. It was found in the Tupos drill core at a depth of 218.35 m.

In the larger (> 30 μ) spheromorphs of the Muhos formation, e.g. in *Leiosphaeridia*, large deformation structures occur, owing to pyrite crystals or crystal aggregates, which have formed the walls according to the form of the crystals (Pl. XV, Figs. 211–220). In some in-

stances the reticulate surface structure can be interpreted as diagenetically formed (Pl. XIV, Figs. 201, 205).

Deformation forms, more common than the foregoing ones, are the compression structures formed before the lithification of the deposits. As an example the fold patterns characteristic of the genus Kildinella may be mentioned (Pl. III, Fig. 11). Vidal (1974) also mentions concerning Kildinella cf. vesljanica that the folds are postsedimentary. Horodyski (1980) also considers Kildinella a deformation phenomenon. Folded forms have already earlier been assigned to the genus Leiosphaeridia, by e.g. Eisenack (1958), Volkova (1968), and Volkova et al. (1979). An exceptional property with respect to Leiosphaeridia is, however, the mostly dark sepia color of the Kildinella type. An important property of the spheromorphs is probably also the color of the wall, since it varies and it is assumed to be due to compositional differences in the walls. In the same samples from the Muhos formation both very light-colored and dark sepia-colored spheromorphs are found.

Genus Leiovalia Eisenack 1965

Oval vesicle, smooth, consisting of an organic substance similar to that of the Hystrichospheres.

Leiovalia sp.

Pl. VII, Fig. 75

DESCRIPTION: Form with rounded apices, ca 45 μ long and 11 μ wide. Surface smooth, except small longitudinal furrows.

OCCURRENCE: Only one observation from the Tyrnävä drill core from a depth of 142.0 m. Generally the form occurs in younger formations but e.g. from the Upper Precambrian of Africa Puchova has described *Leiovalia* (Bozhko *et al.* 1974).

Genus Lunulidia Eisenack 1958, redefined by Eisenack et al. 1976 p. 433

Vesicle semicircular, wall simple, smooth. Several species have an elongated pylome fissure at the equatorial belt. Holotype *Lunulidia* (ex-*Leiofusa*) *lunula* (Eisenack 1951). Lunulidia nana n. sp.

Pl. VII, Figs. 96, 97, 100

DESCRIPTION: Arcuate form with rounded apices, length $8-13 \mu$, width $3-5 \mu$, in the largest individual the apices are of different width. Wall thin, simple and smooth. In the ventral edge there may be a longitudinal fold or a rupture.

REMARKS: Archaeoellipsoides grandis Horodyski & Donaldson (1980) from the Dismal Lakes Group represents the same sausage-shape as that one presented in the foregoing from Muhos. A. grandis is 9–92 μ in size.

OCCURRENCE: Very rare in the Tupos drill core at a depth of 218.75 m.

HOLOTYPE: Specimen (Pl. VII, Fig. 96) in GSF preparation No. 497:1.

Microvalia n. genus

DISCUSSION: The new genus name is meant to characterize a *Leiovalia*-type small form with spines or nodes on its surface. The form resembles in some respects the genus *Rhachosoarium* Tappan & Loeblich 1971 and on the other hand also the genus *Lophodiacrodium* Timofeev 1958, but there are differences in respect to both genera; the spines of *Microvalia* are sparse and they are not clearly concentrated to the apices. TYPE SPECIES: *Microvalia spinosa* n. sp.

DESCRIPTION: The ellipsoidal wall tapers from the middle towards rounded apices. Its length is $6-10 \mu$, width $3-5 \mu$. On the surface relatively sparsely spaced small spines and still smaller nodes. Wall single-layered, fairly dark, generally sepia in color, brittle. Fissures usually transverse.

Microvalia spinosa n. sp.

Pl. VII, Figs. 76-83, 88

DESCRIPTION: As for genus, type specimen.

TYPE SPECIMEN: Pl. VII, Fig. 76, from the Muhos I drill core, depth 142.20 m, specimen in GSF prep. No. 487:1 (38.7/115.0).

OCCURRENCE: Rare in the Muhos I drill core at depths of 142.20 and 251.65 m in fine-grained graphite-bearing detrital maceration residue. The same type, but larger than the foregoing,

11—14 μ , occurs at a depth of 102.0 m.

REMARKS: The form resembles certain resting spores of the genus *Nostoc* and on the other hand spores of fungi. In the Tupos drill core at a depth of 218.75 m there are skittle- or egg-shaped sepia-colored forms, occasionally with dentate edges (Pl. VII, Figs. 89–93), resembling the pseudovaginata walls of the recent *Chamaeosiphon fuscus* exospore. These forms are not readily preserved in the maceration preparations, and we have not been able to preserve the type species.

Genus Nucellosphaeridium Timofeev 1963 Nucellosphaeridium sp.

Pl. XIV, Figs. 196, 197

DESCRIPTION: Leiosphaeridia-type wall, 50— 70 μ in diameter. Wall folded in same manner as *Kildinella*. Dark precipitate is seen in the interior, ca 15 μ in diameter.

OCCURRENCE: Extremely rare in the Tupos drill core at depths of 218.75 and 234.10 m.

Genera Octaedryxium and Polyedryxium, pseudoforms in Muhos. The broken form shown in Pl. XV, Fig. 215 resembles certain species of the genus Polyedryxium Deunff (1954) 1971. The forms in Figs. 211-213 resemble simpler spheromorphs of the type Octaedryxium Rudavskaja 1973, which however in the Muhos formation belong to the pseudoforms shaped by inward crystal growth. In principle the angular algal types may have been represented as early as the Precambrian, but due to the possibility of deformation and lack of unequivocal evidence it was necessary to treat them with reservation. Cf. Vidal 1974: Polyedrospheridium is comparable to a strongly deformed Kildinella hyperboreica.

Genus Pterospermella Eisenack 1972

Circular central body, in side view generally oblong. The central body is equatorically and concentrically bordered by a ring-formed smooth or lobule-edged flange. It may be smooth or radially folded.

REMARKS: *Pterospermella* is intended to replace the genus *Pterospermopsis* W. Wetzel 1952 ex-

21

cept for *Pt. danica* W. W. (Eisenack *et al.* 1973). Also *Granomarginata* Naumova 1960 is a similar genus, as it has been applied to forms with wider rims, e.g. *G. squamacea* Volkova 1968. The forms with flanges, met with in connection with the Muhos form, are assigned to *Pterospermella*, if the flanges have lobules. Forms with a narrower rim, entire and tightly joined to the equator, are assigned to *Granomarginata*.

Pterospermella simica Jankauskas (1980) 1982 SYNONYM: Pterospermopsis simica Jankauskas 1980

Pl. XI, Figs. 143, 144, 145

DESCRIPTION: Central body fairly thickwalled, diameter 20—27 μ . Equatorially placed flange 5—10 μ wide with undulating rim. Total diameter 25—35 μ .

OCCURRENCE: Rare in the Tupos drill core at depth of 234.10 m (two observations) and in the Muhos I drill core, depth of 165.8 m (thin section). Observations by Jankauskas from the Upper Riphean deposit of southern Ural (Jankauskas 1980, 1982).

Genus *Pterospermopsimorpha* Timofeev (1962) 1966

Vesicle spherical to ellipsoidal with diameter from 30-40 to $80-90 \mu$; stout, thick and large. Entirely surrounded by a densely reticulate membrane.

Pterospermopsimorpha ornata n. sp.

Pl. XI, Figs. 138-141

DESCRIPTION: Flattened spherical central body 70—105 μ in diameter. 5—10 μ farther out surrounded by a thin membrane with cellular structure. It may be either diagenetically formed or primary. On the surface of the central body a reticulate structure, generally along with a delicate punctuation, is dimly visible. In a smaller, better preserved individual (Fig. 139) the surface texture is leatherlike and faintly reticulate. OCCURRENCE: Fairly rare, preserved only in the Muhos I drill core at a depth of 262.15 m. HOLOTYPE: Pl. XI, Fig. 138. The Muhos I drill core, at a depth of 262.15 m, same as the paratype Fig. 139. GSF prep. No. 433.

DERIVATION OF NAME: With reference to the wall texture.

REMARKS: The form is attributed to the genus *Pterospermopsimorpha* on account of its main structural feature, the membrane entirely covering the central body. The deviations from the definitions of Timofeev may be due to diagenetic changes, except for the size, which gives reason to enlarge the size scale of the genus.

The form may correspond in type to the smaller species *Globophycus rugosum* (Schopf 1968), presented from the Bitter Springs formation. It has been compared to either of the classes *Chlorophyceae* or *Rhodophyceae* (Schopf & Blacic 1971), or to the class *Chroococcaeae* (Hofmann 1976).

However the form most closely related to that in the Muhos formation is probably a large dispheromorph type described from the Roper formation, which has further been compared to the pteromorphs (Peat et al. 1978). A typical feature of the dispheromorphs of the Roper formation is a thin outer wall with a median split, through which the richly folded, sepia spheromorph can separate. There are also solitary split thin walls. According to the illustrations the diameter of the spheromorphs is $30-135 \mu$, or the type from the Muhos formation would fit into this size range. In case the same type is in question, it would mean that the areole structure of the outer membrane is a secondary feature.

Genus Symplassosphaeridium Timofeev 1959

Spherical clusters of small, spherical, smooth vesicles, diameter 10—60 μ . The outline of the vesicles is undulating.

REMARKS: Structurally this form is closely related to the *Favosphaeridium* type 2. The undulating outline of the spheromorph is due to the distending effect of the small central vesicles.

Symplassosphaeridium parvum Tynni (1978) Figs. 13–16 Tynni & Uutela 1984, Text-fig. 9e. Diameter of spheromorph 8–20 μ , diameter of small vesicles 3–5 μ . Ca 10 observations from the Tupos drill core from a depth of 234.00 m. Holotype Fig. 13 (Tynni 1978).

REMARKS: The species has been compared to the similar genus *Microconcentrica* Naumova 1960. Jankauskas (1982) has presented a similar type, *Symplassosphaeridium undosum* Jankauskas 1979, from the Lower and Middle Riphean deposits of Ural.

Symplassosphaeridium sp.

Pl. VIII, Figs. 104, 112

DESCRIPTION: Diameter of spheromorph 30— 40 μ , length of wavy line at outline of spheromorph ca 5 μ .

OCCURRENCE: Rare in the Muhos I drill core, e.g. at a depth of 85 m.

Genus Synsphaeridium Eisenack 1965, sensu lato

According to Eisenack the interconnected vesicles do not form spherical aggregations, but Timofeev (1966) has described spherical complexes, too. Some other authors have followed this practice. Spherical complexes have also been attributed to the genus Symplassosphaeridium. The manner of joining of the spherical parts is however a more important characteristic than the complex form of Synsphaeridium and Symplassosphaeridium. In the latter the joining of the cells is tighter than in the former, at whose outline the height of the wavy line is $\sim 1/3$ of the diameter of the cell. The genus Synsphaeridium occurs in the Muhos formation both as irregular and as spherical colonies. In the description of the latter we have primarily followed the practice of algal systematics.

Genus Trachysphaeridium Timofeev (1966) 1969

In the determinations we have, in addition to Timofeev, followed mainly the systematics of Vidal (1974, 1976). The synonym list of Hofmann *et al.* (1979) is an example of the great diversity in the naming practice. In the Muhos formation the *Trachysphaeridium* is fairly well preserved, so that the relatively thick walls of the large to medium-size spheromorphs are visible with their shagrinate or slightly granulated surface texture. Their color is brownish or sepia. The folds typical of *Leiosphaeridia* and *Kildinella* are almost completely lacking. Examples of the forms are shown in Plate 9.

Protosphaeridium is probably the genus of the same type most closely related to this one. *Trachysphaeridium levis* (Lopukin) Vidal

Pl. IX, Figs. 122-125

REMARKS: Typical features are the nodules on the surface, the folds encircling the outline, and the size of 45—60 μ , which corresponds to the smallish-medium size class in the approximate size classification given.

OCCURRENCE: Relatively rare in the Tupos drill core at a depth of 218.35 m, and in the Muhos I drill core at the depths of 110.00 m, 111.60 m, and 220.65 m. According to Vidal (1976) the species has been met with in Middle — Upper Riphean, Vendian, and Lower Cambrian deposits.

Trachysphaeridium laminaritum Timofeev 1966 Pl. IX, Figs. 126–129

REMARKS: The thick wall is a typical feature, which is full of cavities, giving rise to an undulating outline. The texture is formed by densely spaced small nodules. Due to the cavities the wall may be roughly reticulated. The diameter is $100-129 \ \mu$. It corresponds to the size range presented by Timofeev (1966), but according to Vidal (1974) the size range in the Visingsö formation is from 45 to 100 μ . Later Vidal (1976) gave the size range $41-57 \ \mu$, which is smaller than in Timofeev's original definition: $70-250 \ \mu$. Two different species may be concerned.

OCCURRENCE: Relatively rare in well preserved condition. Most of the observations are from the Muhos I drill core, from the depths of 207.40 m and 262.15 m. According to Timofeev (1966) the species has been found in Vendian and Lower Cambrian deposits.

Trachysphaeridium sp.

Pl. IX, Fig. 130

DESCRIPTION: Diameter of vesicle ca 50 μ .

Small nodules on surface, on the rim of the vesicle a fold in the direction of the periphery. REMARKS: A form closely related to the species. *T. levis*, and should possibly be attributed to it as a form more poorly preserved than those in Figs. 122—125.

OCCURRENCE: In the Muhos I drill core at a depth of 262.15 m. As a rarity the *Trachysphae-ridium* type was found joined to a sphere of a different type (Fig. 131) or of a similar type (Fig. 132). Cf. also Pl. XV, Figs. 220 and 221. It seems that twin forms of the smallish *Trachysphaeridium* forms possibly exist.

Genus Turuchanica Rudavskaya 1964

The wedgelike rupture marks on the flattened vesicle are typical of this form (Pl. XIII, Figs. 175—188). In part of the forms a distinct ribbon and punctate pattern appears light against the dark sepia-colored wall. This pattern does not consist of openings nor of nodules. Since the form may be of taxonomic significance it is described more in detail in the following.

Turuchanica maculata n. sp.

Pl. XIII, Figs. 175-186

DESCRIPTION: The lenticular or spherical vesicle has been flattened, which has caused wedgelike ruptures to form at the rim of the vesicle. On the sepia-colored surface the densely spaced ribbons patterns are discernible (Fig. 176). The diameter of the vesicle is $18-33 \mu$.

OCCURRENCE: Common in the Muhos I drill core, especially as fragments at a depth of 142.0 m. Rare in the Muhos I drill core at a depth of 190.70 m and in the Tupos drill core at a depth of 218.35 m. TYPE LOCALITY: Muhos, south of Oulu.

HOLOTYPE: Specimen in GSF slide No. 467:3b, Pl. XIII, Fig. 175.

DERIVATION OF NAME: Maculata (lat.) = dotted

REMARKS: The differentiated wall structure possibly suggests an eucaryotic type. The surface structure resembles that of a spherotype described by Peat *et al.* (1978) from the Australian Roper formation, where the reticulate texture type I corresponds to the elongated cells.

Turuchanica aff. kulgunica (Jankauskas) n. comb.

SYNONYM: *Kildinella kulgunica* Jankauskas 1982.

Pl. XIII, Figs. 187, 188

OCCURRENCE: Rare in the Muhos drill core at a depth of 142.0 m. According to Jankauskas (1982) the form belongs to the Upper Riphean in South Ukraine. A similar form, *Leiosphaeridia pylomifera* has been found by Volkova *et al.* (1979) in the Lower Cambrian deposits of Latvia and Lithuania.

REMARKS: In the form of the Muhos formation the central pylome is relatively round and large, ca 5 μ in diameter, the total diameter being ca 25—30 μ . Still smaller forms lack pylome openings, but they have a small central circle. Surface granulated, diameter ca 20 μ . The rupturing typical of *Turuchanica* is probably a sign of a brittle wall structure. The fold encircling the central pylome as well as the rim of the opening are phenomena indicating pressure deformation of a vesicle wall originally extended in an equatorial direction.

Large spheromorph forms

The largest spheromorphs or fragments of them met with in the Muhos formation are more poorly preserved than the smaller forms. Plate X shows examples of the large forms (cf. Timofeev 1970). Fig. 137 shows a fragment of the largest spheromorph, which is ca 250 μ in diameter, worn, and has a feltlike surface. The surface of the spheromorph in Fig. 136 is irregularly reticulate. On the other hand it resembles an irregular cellular structure. It is improbable that it has formed diagenetically from a thick-walled *Leiosphaeridia* type. The structure may correspond to the diagenetically areolated structure of a complicated wall complex, ca 5 μ thick, or the original cellular structure of a wall complex. The diameter of the vesicle is ca

170 μ . The form is possibly of the genus *Protosphaeridium* Timofeev.

Filamentous forms

Genus Contortothrix Schopf 1968

Skeinlike trichome consists of small caskshaped or cylindrical cells.

? Contortothrix sp.

Pl. XVIII, Fig. 245

DESCRIPTION: Diameter of trichome 2–3 μ , diameter of entangled group ca 25 μ . On account of poor preservation possible septa are not readily discernible in the maceration preparation.

OCCURRENCE: In the Tupos drill core at a depth of 218.75 m, prep. No. 497:1, extremely rare in a preserved state.

REMARKS: On account of the dimensions the form may be comparable to *Contortothrix vermiformis*, described by Schopf (1968) from the Bitter Springs formation.

Genus *Eomycetopsis* Schopf 1968 *Eomycetopsis* sp.

Pl. XVIII, Figs. 237-240, 242

DESCRIPTION: Poorly preserved ca 2–3 μ wide, more than 100 μ long trichomes in thin section. OCCURRENCE: Fairly common in the Tupos drill core at a depth of 218.70 m. According to Mendelson & Schopf (1982) *Eomycetopsis* has been of abundant and cosmopolitan occurrence in the Proterozoic microbiota.

Genus Heliconema Schopf 1968

Tubular thallus nonseptate, unbranched and coiled at an angle of ca 45° into a regular helix. Of the modern Oscillatoricean genera it resembles *Spirulina* most closely.

Heliconema sp.

Pl. XVIII, Fig. 241

DESCRIPTION: Diameter of trichome ca 0.5 μ . Diameter of the coils 2—3 μ , distance between subsequent coils ca 2 μ . Length of single trichome without uncoiling ca 20 μ .

OCCURRENCE: Some observations in the Tupos

drill core from a depth of 218.75 m in prep. No. 497:1.

Genus Siphonophycus Schopf 1968 Siphonophycus sp. Pl. XIX, Figs. 250—253

DESCRIPTION: Width of trichomes vary between 8 and 13 μ . They have thin membranes and are relatively light-colored. They have been compared to sheaths of oscillatorealean algae (Hofmann & Aitken 1978).

OCCURRENCE: Rare in the Muhos I drill core. The genus has earlier been described from Bitter Springs, Little Dal, northern Canada and many other Precambrian sediments (Hofmann & Aitken 1978).

Giant filament

Pl. XIX, Fig. 246

DESCRIPTION: Large, filamentous and blackened form ca 180 μ wide and preserved part more than 600 μ long. A reticulate structure appears in the worn part, probably diagenetic. OCCURRENCE: Only one observation in the Muhos I drill core from a depth of 190.70 m (prep. No. 476:1).

REMARKS: The giant filament ca 120 μ in diameter, described from the Roper Group, has been compared to the various species of *Lyngbya* (Peat *et al.* 1978). *Tawuia dalensis* Hofmann, which is significantly larger than that one described above, has been described from the Little Dal Group, Canada. It has also been assumed to be an algal form (Hofmann & Aitken 1978). *Vendotaenia antiqua* Gnilovskaya 1971, described from the Vendian formations of the Soviet Union, is also of larger dimensions than the type found in the Muhos formation. According to Sokolov (1973) *Sabellidites*, which is to be assigned to the pogonophorii, and the

25

26

form *Paleolina evenkiana* Sokolov, which resembles it, exist in formations as old as the Vendian. They are also of larger dimensions. *Proterotania montana* Walter, Oehler and Oehler 1976, described from the Belt Supergroup, Montana, is closest to the dimensions of the type found in the Muhos formation; its diameter is 0.13 mm.

Sheathlike tube

Pl. XIX, Figs. 247-249

DESCRIPTION: Problematic form. The most clear-cut fragment (Fig. 195) is ca 100 μ long, at its wider end 24 μ , at its narrower end 15 μ . The wall is relatively well preserved and smooth, but on the surface there are circular openings spaced ca 10—20 μ apart, and in them a small swelling is distinguishable. The diameter of the smaller sheath is on an average 15 μ (Fig. 249). The sheath is brown to grey in color.

OCCURRENCE: Only in the Muhos I drill core at a depth of 142.00 m in the preparation No. 9.9—82. On account of the rarity and the high degree of preservation in the maceration preparation the originality remains unconfirmed. REMARKS: The holes in the sides may have formed diagenetically and the vesicle may be comparable to the sheath of an oscillatoricean alga.

Branched filament with cystoid protuberances Pl. XVIII, Fig. 243

DESCRIPTION: Length of filament ca 90 μ , width ca 2 μ . The filament has distended into protuberances spaced ca 20 μ apart, terminating in protuberances at the ends of the branches. OCCURRENCE: Only one observation in the Muhos I drill core at a depth of 142.20 m.

REMARKS: On account of the single observation the primary origin remains controversial. From the Yudomian cherts (age ca 675 Ma) there have also been descriptions of branched tubes with ellipsoidal inclusions, which have been compared to blue algae or fungal hyphae. Licari (1978) has described from the Beck Springs dolomite the dichotomously and laterally branched filaments of *Palaeosiphonella cloudii*, which is compared to either Chlorophyta or Chrysophyta. In type it resembles the Muhos form, but is larger than it.

Problematic forms

Cylindrical form, structurally resembling Volyniella

Pl. XX, Figs. 261, 262, 264

DESCRIPTION: The shape is a rectangle with rounded apices, length 10–25 μ , width in a compressed state 11–13 μ . A faint transverse lineation is discernible, the lines spaced 1–2 μ apart. It probably corresponds to the width of a coiled filament. On the surface nodules are discernible and in the larger form also spines (Fig. 264).

REMARKS: In Fig. 262 a filament in a diagonal position is dimly visible as a darker semicircle, which has been interpreted as a sign of the hollowness of the central area. These forms are not as clear-cut as the *Volyniella* species presented by Aseeva (1976) from the Soviet Union or by Tynni and Donner (1980) from the Hailuoto formation.

OCCURRENCE: Rare in the Tupos drill core at the depths of 218.75 and 233.50 m, and in the Muhos I drill core at a depth of 190.70 m.

Cylindrical form with ringlike distensions Pl. VII, Figs. 101, 102

DESCRIPTION: Tube formed by four successive rings. Diameter of rings ca 70 μ , width and depth of rings in sight are deformed.

REMARKS: The form is a fragment of a larger whole. *Toromorpha*, described by Timofeev (1973) from the Vendian deposit of Podolia, is a similar or identical form. The form differs from the Hailuoto form *Volyniella cylindrica* among other things because of its thinner wall and lighter color.

OCCURRENCE: In the Tupos drill core from the depth of 218.75 m only one observation. *Spirosaccus* n. gen.

TYPE SPECIES: Spirosaccus punctata n. sp.

DIAGNOSIS: Sacklike extremely thin-walled vesicle, tapering towards apices, surface punctate. The points form patterns of circles, bows or whirls. In the larger vesicles the points or small nodules also form regular liner patterns with 15 nodules in line of 10 μ . Length of vesicle extremely variable, 300—20 μ .

DERIVATION OF NAME: spiro (lat.) curl, saccus (lat.) sack.

Spirosaccus punctata n. sp.

Pl. XX, Figs. 257-260, 263

Elongated structures Tynni 1978, p. 8, Fig. 1. DESCRIPTION: As for genus, especially according to species in Fig. 263. Length of tapering vesicle is 160 μ . On surface of vesicle small yellowish and black punctate nodules in spirally arranged chains. Spacing of nodules ca 0.5—1 μ . In the narrower tail-like part the nodules are grouped in dense spiral coils perpendicular to the longitudinal axis.

HOLOTYPE: Fig. 263. The Tupos drill core, from a depth of 165.47 m, GSF prep. No. 560. OCCURRENCE: Common in the Tupos drill core at a depth of 165.47 m, in other places observations are lacking.

REMARKS: The form has been interpreted as a colony of bacterial filaments. The spiral arrangement of the filaments is characteristic. It appears at its clearest in small colonies of a few filaments. The largest colonies tend to form combinations of adjacent chains of filaments, covering large areas (Fig. 258).

The form resembles to some extent the pseudofilament type presented by Peat et al. (1978), which has formed during the erosion of large spheromorphs, or even more the type with dark cellular remains in ribbons and sheets of mucilage. In the Muhos formation the spiral form is on an average larger than the spheromorphous forms in horizons where preserved spheromorphs are met with. The lines of consecutive nodules comprise the most important structural feature, while the shape as a whole is a nonessential feature, since especially the sedimentary conditions have influenced it. The structures are presumably formed in strongly reducing conditions which are destructive to organisms, but where however bacterial activity has been going on.

Granulated irregularly formed vesicles

Pl. XX, Figs. 254-256

DESCRIPTION: On the surface of the vesicles there are semispherical swellings. Vesicle size variable 20—80 μ . The nodules are larger than in *Spirosaccus punctata*.

OCCURRENCE: In the Tupos drill core at a depth of 84.10 m some observations.

REMARKS: Possibly the form concerned is a bacterial colony formed by the disintegration of a spheromorph in connection with bacterial action. In the same horizon no preserved spheromorphs were found. The microfossil type C described by Manum (1967) from the Biskopås conglomerate, South Norway, probably corresponds to the type in the Muhos formation. The conglomerate concerned dates from the Late Precambrian.

MICROBIOTA OF THE MUHOS FORMATION AND BIOSTRATIGRAPHIC CORRELATION

The more abundant occurrence of microfossils is limited to a rather small portion of the drill cores from the Muhos formation. In the deepest drilling at Tupos the fossiliferous zone is at a depth of 215–234 m, in the Muhos I drilling it is thicker, ranging from a depth of

27

85 m down to 267 m. In the Tyrnävä drilling no abundant zone was found. In order to follow the floral succession the percentual shares of the most common forms from the Muhos I drill core have been presented. Also the size distribution of the *Leiosphaeridia* type at the depths of 85—267 m is shown (Text-figs. 6—8). On account of the high degree of wearing the result remains indicative.

In addition to the Leiosphaeridia type the following forms are met with, in order of frequency: Synsphaeridium/Myxococcoides, Kildinella, Turuchanica, Favosphaeridium, Trachysphaeridium, Symplassosphaeridium, growth- and sporangium forms of cyanobacteria. The share of filamentous cyanobacteria is relatively small. The foregoing forms have been described especially from the Late Precambrian deposits of the USSR, e.g. by Andreeva (1966), Timofeev (1966, 1969), Jankauskas (1979, 1982), Aseeva (1976), Naumova (1960, 1968), Schepeleva (1973), and Pychova (1973). The definition and naming of the microfossils may vary between the Muhos formation and the areas in the USSR, depending on the interpretation. In the occurrences in the USSR especially the share of Leiosphaeridia is markedly smaller than in the Muhos formation, possibly for the reason that in the latter many forms have been assigned to the genus Leiosphaeridia which in the USSR have been divided into other genera. This difference in division is not of great significance, since the forms concerned are not guide fossils.

The rarer forms are on an average of greater significance for dating purposes than are the common forms, as far as the structurally more highly developed primary occurrences are concerned. Rarer forms belonging to the acritarchs in the Muhos formation are *Turuchanica maculata* n. sp., *T. kulgunica* (Jankauskas), *Pterospermopsimorpha ornata* n. sp., *Pterospermella simica* Jankauskas, *Granomarginata* sp., *Eomicrhystridium* sp., *Leiovalia* sp., *Microvalia* sp., *Microvalia spinosa* n. sp., and *Lunulidea* sp. These forms are morphologically considerably further developed than the smooth spheromorphs. The known forms date in the USSR from the Riphean deposits, most often from the Upper Riphean (Jankauskas 1982). According to Keller and Khramov (1982) the Riphean of southern Ural corresponds, according to radiometric datings, to ages of 614/658— 1592 Ma, while the limit between the Upper and Middle Riphean corresponds to an age of 1052/ 1126—1229 Ma. The radiometric age of the Muhos formation corresponds to the Lower Riphean or the limit between the Lower and Middle Riphean in the division of the USSR.

On the basis of the rare acritarchs one cannot necessarily claim the Muhos formation to be younger than in the present opinion and comparable to the Late Riphean, but one can presume that the acritarchs concerned appeared earlier in the Muhos area, especially since it is believed that there has been considerable advance in the development of microbiota near the limit between Early and Middle Riphean, when the size of the spheromorphs grew and the eukaryotic forms appeared (e.g. Schopf 1978). The rare forms may also have gotten into secondary positions from younger eroded deposits.

Since small vertical faults and slickensides are common in the Muhos formation, part of the younger microfossil material may have displaced from its original positions to a lower level. The possible share of this phenomenon is however extremely small, considering the erosion connected with the same situation. Rare occurrences may however be suspected to be of such a secondary origin. On the basis of the microfossils it is possible that the upper part of the Muhos formation corresponds to the Upper Proterozoic. In this case it would, on stratigraphic grounds, be close to the dating of the Hailuoto formation, which is interpreted to be Vendian (Tynni & Donner 1980).

The prokaryotic cyanobacteria found in the Muhos formation represent a fairly unchanging biotope, which is not believed to be of great sig-

nificance as regards dating. On the other hand the group of cyanobacteria is multiform and heterogeneous and it can be assumed that at times some short-lived forms with a greater significance for dating may have belonged to it. In microbiota dominated by cyanobacteria there is also a distinct growth in cell size in Proterozoic assemblages, as stated by Muir (1976) in his comparison of the microfossils of the ca 1500 Ma old Amelia Dolomite with those of the younger Bitter Springs, Beck Springs, Boorthanna and Skillogalee formations. The majority of the formations in the comparisons are dated younger than the datings of the Muhos formation, but part of the forms in common are originally from older formations. This situation is not in conflict with the radiometric datings.

The stratigraphic correlation of the Proterozoic microbiota is based on the results of microfossil studies in radiometrically dated sedimentary rocks. On the part of primitive bacterial forms the modern morphological systematics is the basis for evolutionary and ecological conclusions. The significance of the acritarchs, which do not exist today, in dating and correlation is based on the highly developed specialization of the spheromorphs and on the size development of the type Leiosphaeridia. The solving of the development of the Proterozoic set of organisms, based on a limited fossil material, is still at a developing stage, and the correlation based on only microbiota of sedimentary rocks not radiometrically dated is not conclusive for dating, especially not if the thanatotope concerned is of a very limited environment. Better opportunities for a more conclusive correlation is offered by the studies of Precambrian contemporaneous ecosystems as varied as possible.

According to Schopf (1970) one of the significant stages of development of the cyanophyta was the appearance of the non-colonial coccoid forms more than 3100 Ma ago. Simple filamentous colonies (Oscillatoriaceae) appeared more than 2700 Ma ago (Schopf *et al.* 1971). Cloud & Morrison (1979) interpret some early microfos-

sil observations as impurities or pseudofossils. However Awramik et al. (1983) describe filamentous bacteria from the ca 3500 Ma old Warrawoona Group, West Australia. This age comes near to the assumed first appearance of organic carbon in the sediments of the Earth, approximately 3.7×10^9 yr (Schidlowski 1979). As the oldest preserved forms Cloud & Morrison (1979) consider the filamentous forms found in the ca 2.3 Ga old stromatolitic limestone of the Malmani dolomite in South Africa (Nagy 1974). A more developed filamentous member of the family Nostocaceae is present earlier in the Gunflint formation, 1900 Ma ago (Licari & Cloud 1968). Its characteristic features are the specialized heterocyst and akinetes cells. In the contemporaneous Belcher Islands formation a colony-forming coccoid type, comparable to the family Entophysalidaceae, is the dominating form (Hofmann 1976). Otherwise the biotope of this formation resembles that of Bitter Springs in the fact that the biota is highly specialized as for the cyanophyta (Schopf 1968, Schopf & Blacic 1971). The similarities in formations of different age have been attributed to the similar environments of deposition of stromatolite — chert deposits (Hofmann 1976, Knoll et al. 1978, Knoll & Simonson 1981). In both formations the biota consists of benthic forms, although planktic or allogenic benthic individuals are met with also in the material from the Belcher Islands (Hofmann op. cit.).

The exclusion of plankton forms proper from Precambrian microfossil assemblages is to some extent a relative classification. The spheromorphs are able to float and readily form plankton, e.g. from growths loosened by the surf from the stromatolite zone. A spheromorph type foreign to the stromatolites possibly corrensponds to a biotope characteristic of the open sea, in other words various acritarchs, which are met with in clay- and siltstone. Timofeev used the name microphytoplankton of these forms in many connections. The Late Precambrian spheromorps described by Timofeev

30 Geological Survey of Finland, Bulletin 330

Approxi- mate age	Geologic unit	Locality	Lithology	Examples of microfossils (diameter μ m)	Reference
1000	Sukhaya Tunguska	Siberia Platform	Black chert	Eomycetopsis, Eoentophysalis, Eosynechococcus $(3-45 \mu)$	Mendelson & Schopf 1982
1000	Biota from Boorthanna	South Australia	Black chert	Pleurocapsalean cf. Myxosacrina, eukaryotes $(3-60 \mu)$	Schopf & Fair- child 1973
1000	Skillogalee Dolomite	South Australia	Dolomite	Pleurocapsalean cyanophyte	Schopf & Barg- hoorn 1969, Knoll et al. 1975
?1200	Tersk, Kildin fms	Kola Peninsula, USSR	Arkose, clayey schists	Kildinella, Protosphaeridium, Stictosphaeridium, Favos- phaeridium (2—90 μ)	Timofeev 1969
1200	Dismal Lakes	NNW Territories, Canada	Chert lenses	Eoentophysalis, Sphaerophycetes, Myxococcoides, Oscillatoriopsis, Archaeoellipsoides $(3-32 \mu)$	Horodyski & Donaldson 1980
1200	Avzjan	Southern Ukraina USSR	Dolomite	Kildinella, Leiosphaeridia, Turu- chanica, Gloecapsamorpha, Syns- phaeridium, Nucellosphaeridium, Pteromopsimorpha $(1-80 \ \mu)$	Jankauskas 1982
1200	Muhos formation	W Finland	Siltstone, shale	Leiosphaeridia, Synsphaeridium, Turuchanica, Favosphaeridium, Eosynechococcus, Eomycetopsis $(2-160 \mu)$	Tynni & Uutela present work
1300	Greyson Shale	Montana, U.S.A.	Shale	Megascopic algae	Walter Oehler & Oehler 1976
1300	Roper Group	Northern Terri- tory, Australia	Carbonaceous shale	aff. Favosphaeridium, cluster (10 (7)–600 μ)	Peat et al. 1978
1300	Beck Spring Dolomite	SE California	Cherts — laminated carbonate stromatol.	Beckspringia, Abundacapsa, Maculatosphaera, Palaeosi- phonella (2–62 μ)	Cloud et al. 1969, Gustadt & Schopf 1969, Licari 1978, Pierce & Cloud 1979
1400	Little Belt Mountains	Montana, U.S.A.	Shale	Siphonophycus, Lyngbya, Kildinella, Chuaria, aff. Entophysalis (12–440 μ)	Horodyski 1980
1500	Bungle Bungle Dolomite	NW Australia	Cherts — silicif. stromat.	Chroococcaceae, filamentous forms $(1-5 \mu)$	Diver 1974
1600	Amelia Dolomite	NE Northern Territory, Australia	Cherts — silicif. stromat.	Eomycetopsis, Huroniospora, Sphaerophycus, Palaeoanacystis, Tetrahedral tetrads $(1-13 \mu)$	Croxford et al. 1973, Muir 1976, Oehler et al. 1976
1650	Paradise Creek	NW Queensland, Australia	Silicif. carbonate stromat.	Narrow filaments, aff. Eocapsis (?) aff. Anacystis $(2-12 \mu)$	Licari, Cloud & Smith 1969, Licari & Cloud 1972
1800	Shunga, Jatulian	Lake Onega, USSR	Shungite	Protosphaeridium (2-60?)	Timofeev 1969
1800	Belcher Group	S Hudson Bay, Canada	Chert linses	Eomycetopysis sp., Sphaero- phycus, Myxococcoides, Eoentophysalis, acritarcha $(2-31 \mu)$	Hofmann & Jackson 1969, Hofmann 1974, 1976

Table 2.	Characteristic	features of	f some	known	Precambrian	(1800 -	-1000	Ma)	microbiota.
----------	----------------	-------------	--------	-------	-------------	---------	-------	-----	-------------

(1969) from the area of the USSR are of larger dimensions than the common Chroococcacean

forms of a corresponding age, described from stromatolite-chert deposits of the shelf area.

The observation that the growing size of the spheromorphs is an evolutionary feature (Schopf 1978) probably applies most closely to the planktonic forms.

In the varved parts of the Muhos formation the organiferous varves, ca 1 mm thick, have formed in calm conditions, where the bottom streams have not influenced them. The estimated depth of the sedimentary basin has been more than 50 m. Presumably the planktonic forms have formed the bulk of the biota, but also Chroococcacean forms (e.g. *Eosynechococccus*) transported from the littoral zone, are present. A comparison of the floratype concerned with floras of dated cherts of the shelf area can only to a small extent concern common allochtonous forms.

Table 2 shows the most characteristic features

of Proterozoic age (1800—1000 Ma) microbiota, chronologically relatively close to the Muhos formation. In the comparison of the results the lithologic association is of great importance. In connection with the stromatolites the share of small forms becomes emphasized. In the clay- and siltstones the occurrence of large spheromorphs and acritarchs is conspicuous in the biota concerned. For this reason the small spheromorphs may sometimes have passed unnoticed.

Comparisons with other microbiota regarding the *Leiosphaeridia* type is made difficult by the lack of data on the percentual size distribution. However thin-walled spheromorphs of the same size range as that of the Muhos formation have been described from the ca 1300 Ma old Roper Group, Australia (Peat *et al.* 1978).

PALEOECOLOGICAL ESTIMATIONS

The conditions prevailing at the time of deposition of a formation can be reconstructed on the basis of the lithology, the structure, and the type of microfossils found in the sediments, especially if the time of sedimentation is known.

On the basis of earlier investigations it can be said that of the sediments the sandstone corresponds to an arkose type and the finer-grained silt- and claystone portions to a weathering sediment, where the kaolinite is clearly discernible in the finer-grained fractions. Kaolinite is commonly formed by the hydrolysis of aluminosilicates. Its formation is favored by tropical conditions.

The sedimentary structure of the Muhos formation in the upper horizons studied corresponds to homogeneous silt and varved portions in thin packs (10–20 cm). The varved portions are either poor in organic material or contain apparently precipitated organic material, which forms thin films clinging to the sedimentary grains. In connection with it there are

usually microfossils and disseminations of graphite and pyrite. Such parts of the sediment differ from the rest of the greyish or brownish sequence in its darker, almost black color. In these parts the sediment is relatively finergrained than in the homogeneous silty portions. Probably they are also a sign of a deeper (more than 50 m) environment of deposition than are the homogeneous portions. In the three drill core sequence studied the majority of dark varved places are in the zone of 85-267 m in the westernmost, Muhos I core. In the Tupos drill core they occur only in the zone of 215-234 m. The upper portion of the Muhos I sequence probably represents a deeper part of the basin than do the contemporaneous horizons of the other drilling sites.

A comparison of sediments and microfossils shows that the 142.2 m level of the Muhos I drill core represents conditions of depth and environment which are comparable to the 218.35 m level of the Tupos drill core from 27.5 km farther west. In the area between them this implies a gradient of ca 2.6 m/km sloping to the west.

The corresponding biostratigraphic horizon is lacking from the Hailuoto sedimentary rock sequence ca 50 km to the west-northwest of Muhos, possibly for the reason that the area west of the Muhos formation has been dry land at the time of deposition of the formation. On the basis of investigations carried out so far it seems likely that the extent of the Muhos formation was not significantly larger than today during the deposition of the silty sediments. Its present borders coincide with tectonic lines, which may have existed already when the sedimentary basin was formed. The brink of Kieksi conglomerate (Brenner 1944) on the northern bank of the Oulujoki river has formed after the sedimentation, probably in connection with strong block faulting. Possibly there were strong movements during the same cycle between Muhos and Hailuoto, too. It has not been possible to determine the position of the connection with the sea. Possibly the basin has been a lake, the other alternative is a sheltered bay of the sea.

The ecologic adaptability of the cyanophyta is extremely great with regard to among other things salinity, oxygen content, and ultraviolet radiation, which is lethal to other bacteria. Cyanophyta are met with in seas and freshwater basins, and they are either aerobic or anaerobic. The cyanophyte species Eosynechococcus moorei Hofmann found in the Muhos formation resembles the modern form Synechococcus, which is a common cyanophyte in hot springs. It is able of photosynthesis at temperatures as high as 73-75°C, although the genus also contains representatives of other biotopes. In addition other forms are known which are able of photosynthesis at a temperature of -30°C (Schopf & Blacic 1971).

At the time of deposition of the upper part of the Muhos formation the temperature has assumedly been fairly high. This assumption is supported by the presence of chemical clay minerals in addition to occurrences of cyanophyta and possibly sulfur bacteria. Action of sulfur bacteria occurs e.g. in the hot springs of the rift area of the Pacific Ocean (Corliss *et al.* 1979). The pyrite disseminations and crystals common in the sediment may be the result of the action of reducing sulfur bacteria. According to Schidlowski (1979 p. 300) the bacteria which reduce sulfates liberate H_2S as their main metabolic product, which readily combines to form sedimentary sulfide, mainly pyrite.

Part of the sulfur bacteria oxidize sulfur compounds, acting at the same time as a mild oxidant. The organic origin of the sulfur compounds appears from the isotope relations of the sulfur. According to Broda (1975) and Schidlowski (op. cit. p. 299) this photosynthetic action of purple and green sulfur bacteria as a mild oxidant of sulfates would have been a forerunner of the formation of free oxygen in the sea area 2.8—3.1 Ga ago.

In the continental area the oxidation of sulfur compounds is interpreted to have begun ca 2.2×10^9 years ago (Hattori *et al.* 1983). The microfossils interpreted as purple bacteria, found in the Tupos drill core at a depth of 165.47 m, can be considered as examples of oxidizing sulfur bacteria in the Muhos formation.

The fine-grained sediments of the Muhos formation have mainly formed under oxidizing conditions, which is indicated by the reddish color of ferric iron. Characteristic of the formation are also the sharply contrasting greyishgreen reduced deposits; in whose connection the organiferous and pyrite-bearing portions occur as rarities. Mainly these redox variations are likely to be sedimentary, in which case significant factors for the redox potential have been the oxidizing and reducing action of the bacteria and possibly, during tectonically active times, also hydrothermal eruptions. However part of the reduction-oxidation phenomenon of the sediment has taken place afterwards, under the influence of reducing mineral assemblages.

The biogenic material preserved in the sedi-

33

mentary rock is exceptional with reference to recent sediments. The reducing redox conditions easily forming during the Late Precambrian even in shallow water can be considered as one of the preserving factors. According to the general opinion, which has its exceptions, the oxygen-rich atmosphere began forming under the influence of cyanobacteria during the Precambrian. Eskola's (1956) attention was attracted by the appearance of carbonate-binding algal reefs in Beltian and Cambrosilurian deposits all over the world. The abundant photosynthesis and the therewith connected exhalation of CO₂ is revealed by immense algal deposits. This in turn influenced the growth of the amount of oxygen in the air, as has been the case during all mountain-forming periods. In

the beginning the photosynthetic oxygen was bound to the oxidizing minerals of the hydrosphere, and e.g. banded iron formations were formed (Cloud 1968), but the oxygen of the atmosphere formed gradually later towards the end of the Precambrian. At the time of deposition of the Muhos formation the share of oxygen was approximately 1 % (Cloud 1976). Under these conditions the chemical disintegration of the cyanophyta was limited. On the other hand the amounts of cyanophyta was large. According to Schopf & Blacic (1971) the cyanophyta reaced the peak of their development during the Late Precambrian, 900 Ma ago. The preservation of the cyanophyta was favored by the lack or rarity of organisms feeding on them.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This study was carried out partly as a duty of office at the Geological Survey of Finland, partly it was financed by the Academy of Finland. The diamond drillings were originally carried out by the companies Imatran Voima Oy and Oulujoki Oy, but the material was later on handed over to the Geological Survey. We want to thank especially Prof. Kauko Korpela, Research Director, Prof. Raimo Kujansuu, Head of Department and Dr. Heikki Ignatius, State Geologist, for the realization of this study, and Prof. Joakim Donner, University of Helsinki, for valuable comments on the manuscript.

Mr. Kalevi Hokkanen prepared a part of the specimens and was of assistance otherwise. The mineral compositions of the sedimentary rocks were determined by Drs. Seppo Lahti and Kari Kinnunen. Data on the physical properties of the Muhos formation were supplied by Paavo Järvimäki, geophysicist. Mrs. Tarja Tuimala made the drawings. The manuscript was translated from Finnish into English by mrs. Carola Eklundh, M. Sc. We wish to express our best thanks to all of them.

REFERENCES

- Alhonen, P. & Tynni, R., 1982. Kivinen kirja kertoo. Prekambrikauden mikrofossiilit. Tiede 2000, No 4, 24-29.
- Andreyeva, Ye. M., 1966. Rastitelnye mikrofossilii neyasnogo sistematicheskogo polozheniya. *In* Paleopalinologiya. Trudy. VSEGEI, vyp. 141, 114–133.
- Aseyeva, Ye. A., 1976. Mikrofitofossilii i vodorosli iz otlozheniy verkhnego dokembriya Volyno-Podolii. In Paleontologiya i stratigrafiya verkhnego dokembriya i nizhnego paleozoya yugo-zapada Vostochno-Yevropeyskoy platformy. »Naukova Dumka», Kiev., 40–62.
- Awramik, S. M., Schopf, J. W. & Walter, M. R., 1983. Filamentous fossil bacteria from the Archaean of Western Australia. Precambrian Res. 20 (2–4), 357–374.
- Barghoorn, E. S. & Tyler, S. A., 1965. Micro-organisms from the Gunflint chert. Science 147, 535—549.
- Bergström, J., Bruun, Å., Ek, J., Gold, T., Granar, L., Henkel, H., Kresten, P., Larsson, K., Lindén, A., Lund, C.-E. & Olsson, T., 1983. Deep earth gas in Sweden. Background and prospects. Gas project G. 2 report No 1. Swedish State Power Board, Res. Development Rep., Jan 1983, 178 p.
- Bozhko, N. A., Pykhova, N. G. & Raaben, M. E., 1974. Upper Precambrian Biostratigraphy of Africa. Doklady, Akad. Nauk. SSSR, 214 (1-6), 77-80.
- Brenner, Th., 1941. Ein ungewöhnliches Kalk-Schlammsteinsediment. Geol. Rundschau 32, 535–549.
- —, 1944. Die Bodenbildungen des Muhos-Sediments bei Kieksi. Bull. Comm. Géol. Finlande 132, 189—196.
- Broda, E., 1975. The Evolution of the Biogenetic Processes. Pergamon, 220 p.
- Burmann, G., 1972. Problematica aus der Lausitzer Grauwackenformation. Jahrb. Geologie. Band 4. 1968, 387-423.
- Chauvel, J. J. & Schopf, J. W., 1978. Late Precambrian microfossils from Brioverian cherts and limestones of Brittany and Normandy, France. Nature 275 (5681), 640—642.
- Cloud, P., 1968. Pre-metazoan evolution and the origins of the Metazoa. *In* Drake, E. T. (ed.) Evolution and environment. New Haven, Yale Univ. Press., 1–72.
- —, 1976. Beginnings of biospheric evolution and their biochemical consequences. Paleobiology 2 (4), 351—387.
- Cloud, P. E., Licari, G. R., Wright, L. A. & Troxel, B. W., 1969. Proterozoic eucaryotes from Eastern California. Proc. Nat. Acad. Sci. 62 (3), 623–630.

Cloud, P. & Morrison, K., 1979. On microbial contaminants,

micropseudofossils, and the oldest records of life. Precambr. Res. 13 (9), 81–91.

- Corliss, J. B., Dymond, J., Gordon, L. I., Edmond, J. M., von Herzen, R. P., Ballard, R. D., Green, K., Williams, D., Bainbridge, A., Crane, K. & von Andel, T. H., 1979. Submarine Thermal Springs on the Galápagos Rift. Science 203, 1073—1083.
- Croxford, N. J. W., Janecek, J., Muir, M. D. & Plumb, K. A., 1973. Microorganisms of Carpentarian (Precambrian) Age from the Amelia Dolomite McArthur Group, Northern Territory, Australia. Nature 245, 28-30.
- Deflandre, G., 1968. Sur l'existence, dês le Précambrian, d'Acritarches du type Acantomorphitae: Eomicrhystridium nov. gen. Typification du genre Palaeocryptidium Defl. 1955. C. R. Acad. Sci. Paris, 266, sér. D, no 26, 2385—2389.
- Deunff, J., 1954. Sur un microplancton du Dévonien du Canada recélant des types noveaux d'Hystrichosphaerids. C. R. Acad. Sci. Paris 239, 1064–1066.
- —, 1971. Le genre Polyedryxium Deunff, révision et observations. C.I.M.P., Microfossiles Organiques du Paléozoique, 3 Acritarches. C.N.R.S., Paris 1971, 7—49.
- Diver, W. L., 1974. Precambrian Microfossils of Carpentarian Age from Bungle Bungle Dolomite of Western Australia. Nature 247, 361—363.
- Downie, C., 1973. Observations on the nature of the acritarcs. Paleontology 16, 239–259.
- Downie, C. & Sarjeant, W. A. S., 1963. On the interpretation and status of some Hystrichosphere genera. Paleontology 6, 83-96.
- Edhorn, A.-S., 1973. Further investigations of fossils from the Animikie, Thunder Bay, Ontario. The Geol. Ass. Can, Proc. 25, 37–66.
- Eisenack, A., 1951. Über Hystrichosphaeridean und andere Kleinformen aus baltischen Silur und Kambrium. Senchenbergiana 32, 187–204.
- —, 1958. Tasmanites Newton 1875 und Leiosphaeridea n. g. als Gattungen der Hystrichosphaeridea. Palaeontographica Abt. A 110, 1—19.
- —, 1965. Die Mikrofauna der Ostseekalke. 1. Chitinozoen, Hystrichosphären. N. Jahrb. Geol. Paleontol., Abh. 123 (2), 115—148.
- —, 1972. Kritische Bemerkung zur Gattung Pterospermopsis (Chlorophyta, Prasinophyceae). Neues Jahrb. Geol. Paleont. H. 10, 596—601.
- Eisenack, A., Cramer, F. H. & Diez, M. d. C. R., 1973. Ka-

talog der fossilen Dinoflagellaten, Hystrichosphären und verwandten Mikrofossilien. Bd. III. Acritarcha, 1. Teil. E. Schweizerbart'sche Verlagsbuchhandlung, Nägele u Obermiller, Stuttgart, 1104 p.

- Eisenack, A., Cramer, F. H. & Diez, M. d. C. R., 1976. Katalog der fossilen Dinoflagellaten, Hystrichosphären und verwandten Mikrofossilien. Bd. IV. Acritarcha, 2. Teil. E. Schweizerbart'sche Verlagsbuchhandlung, Nägele u Obermiller, Stuttgart, 1138 p.
- Enkovaara, A., Härme, M. & Väyrynen, H., 1952. Suomen geologinen yleiskartta. Kivilajikartta. Oulu ja Tornio (Lehdet C 5 ja B 5). General geological map of Finland. Pre-Quaternary rocks. Oulu and Tornio (Sheets C 5 and B 5). 1: 400 000. Geologinen tutkimuslaitos. Geol. Surv. Finland.
- Enkovaara, A., Härme, M. & Väyrynen, H., 1953. Suomen geologinen yleiskartta, lehdet C 5 – B 5, Oulu–Tornio, 153 p.
- Eskola, P., 1956. On the geological eras and the factors controlling organic evolution. Verhandelingen van het Koninklijk Nederlandsch Geol.-Mijnb. Gen. Geol. Ser. Deel XVI, 84—91.
- Evitt, W. R., 1963. A discussion and proposals concerning fossil dinoflagellates, hystrichospheres and achritarcs. II proc. Nat. Acad. Sci. U.S.A., 49, 298–302.
- Flodén, T., Jacobsson, R., Kumpas, M. G., Wadstein, P. & Wannäs, K., 1980. Geophysical investigation of western Bothnian Bay. Geol. Fören. Stockh. Förh. 101 (4) [for 1979], 321–327.
- Geitler, L., 1925. Cyanophyceae. Pasher: Süsswasserflora 12. Jena, 450 p.
- Gibbard, P. L., 1979. Late Pleistocene Stratigraphy of the Area around Muhos, North Finland. Ann. Acad. Sci. Fennicae Ser. A. III. Geologica-Geographica. 129, 38 p.
- Gnilovskaya, M. B., 1971. Ancient algae of the Vendian of the Russian Platform (Late Precambrian). Paleont. Zb. 101–107.
- Gold, Th., 1983. Cf. Bergström, J. et al. (1983).
- Golubic, S., 1976. Organisms that build stromatolites. In Walter, M. R. (ed.). Stromatolites. Elsevier Scientific Publishing Co. Amsterdam, 113–126.
- Gutstadt, A. M. & Schopf, J. W., 1969. Possible algal microfossils from the late Pre-Cambrian of California. Nature 223, 165–167.
- Harder, R., 1931. Thallo-, Bryo- und Pteridophyten. 17.— 18. Auflage 1928—1931. *In* Fitting, H., Sierp, H., Harder, R. & Karsten, G. (eds.). Eduard Strasburger's Lehrbuch der Botanik für Hochschulen. Fischer. Jena, 303—438.
- Hattori, K., Krouse, H. R. & Campell, F. A., 1983. The start of sulfur Oxidation in Continental Environments: About 2,2×10⁹ years ago. Science 221, 549–551.
- Heikkinen, A., 1972. Muhoksen muodostuman alkaanit? Geologi 24 (5---6), p. 61.

- Hoering, T. C., 1967. Criteria for Suitable Rocks in Precambrian Organic Geochemistry. Carnige Institution. Annual Report of the Director Geophysical Laboratory. 1965—1966, 365—372.
- Hofmann, H. J., 1974. Mid-Precambrian prokaryotes (?) from the Belcher Islands, Canada. Nature 249, 87—88.
- —, 1976. Precambrian microflora, Belcher Islands, Canada: signifiance and systematics. J. Paleont. 50 (6), 1040— 1073.
- Hofmann, H. J. & Aitken, J. D., 1978. Precambrian biota from the Little Dal Group, Mackenzie Mountains, northwestern Canada. Can. J. Earth. Sci. 16, 150–166.
- Hofmann, H. J., Hill, J. & King, A. F., 1979. Late Precambrian Microfossils, Southeastern Newfoundland. Geol. Surv. Canada, Papers 79-1B, 83–97.
- Hofmann, H. J. & Jackson, G. D., 1969. Precambrian (Aphebian) microfossils from Belcher Islands, Hudson Bay. Can. J. Earth Sci. 6, 1137–1144.
- Horodyski, R. J., 1980. Middle Proterozoic shale-facies microbiota from the Lower Belt Supergroup, Little Belt Mountains, Montana. J. Paleont., 54 (4), 649—663.
- Horodyski, R. J. & Bloeser, B., 1978. 1400 million-year-old shale-facies microbiota from the lower Belt Supergroup, Montana. Science 199, 662—684.
- Horodyski, R. J. & Donaldson, J. A., 1980. Microfossils from the Middle Proterozoic Dismal Lakes Group, Arctic Canada. Precambrian Res. 11 (2), 125–159.
- Hyyppä, E., 1935. Tyrnävän kaasuesiintymä. (Das Erdgasvorkommen von Tyrnävä.) Suomen Kemistilehti 8 (4), 33–37 & (5), 41–44.
- —, 1940. Geologisen toimikunnan selostus Oulujoen alueen sedimenttikivistä. Geologian tutkimuskeskus, keskusarkisto, käsikirjoitus n:o 18, Dc/Tyä/1940/EH, 4 p.
- Jankauskas, T. V., 1979. (Middle Riphean microbiota from the southern Urals and the Bashkirian Urals). Dokl. Acad. Sci. USSR Earth Sci. Sect. 248, 190—193.
- —, 1980. Novye vodorosli iz verhnego rifeya Yuzhnogo Urala i Bashkirskogo Priuralya. Paleontol. zhurnal. No 4, 122—128.
- —, 1982. Microfossils on the Riphean of the South Urals. In Stratotype of Riphean Paleontology. Paleomagnetism. Akad. Nauk SSSR Tr. 368, 84—120, pl. 31—48.
- Kalla, J., 1960. Muhoksen muodostuman alueella, Limingan Tupoksella suoritettu syväkairaus. Vuoriteollisuus 1, 53—54.
- Kazmierczak, J., 1976. Devonian and modern relatives of the Precambrian Eosphaera: possible signifiance for the early eukaryotes. Lethaia 9, 235–293.
- Keller, B. M. & Khramov, A. N., 1982. Introduction. In Keller, B. M. (ed.). Stratotype of Riphean. Paleontology, Paleomagnetism. Akad. Nauka. Moscow, 3–5.
- Kesola, R., 1981. Muhoksen muodostumaan kuuluvia klastisia juonia peruskalliossa. Geologi 33 (9–10), 133–135.
- -, 1983. Suomen geologinen kartta. Kallioperäkartta. Leh-

36

ti 3422 Oulujoki. Geological map of Finland. Prequaternary rocks. Sheet 3422 Oulujoki. 1 : 100 000. Geologinen tutkimuslaitos. Geol. Surv. Finland.

- Knoll, A. H., 1979. Silicified microorganisms from the late Precambrian Draken Conglomerate, Svalbard. Geol. Soc. Am. Abstr. Prog. Ann. Meeting 11, 459.
- Knoll, A. H., Barghoorn, E. S. & Golubic, S., 1975. Paleopleurocapsa wopfnerii gen. et sp. nov.: A Late Precambrian alga and its modern counterpart. Proc. Nat. Acad. Sci. USA 72 (7), 2488–2492.
- Knoll, A. H., Blick, N. & Awramik, S. M., 1978. Stratigraphic and Ecologic Implications of Late Precambrian Microfossils from Utah. Abstr., Meeting, Geol. Soc. 10 (7), 436.
- Knoll, A. H. & Simonson B., 1981. Early Proterozoic Microfossils and Penecontemporaneous Quartz Cementation in the Sokoman Iron Formation, Canada. Science 211, 478–480.
- Korhonen, H. & Porkka, M. T., 1975. Seismic soundings at the Muhos Formation. Bull. Geol. Soc. Finland 47, 19—24.
- Kouvo, O., 1977. Geologisista ajoitusmenetelmistä. Studia Generalia 1977: Elämän kehitys, 1977-04-14 klo 19. Käsikirjoitus. 15 p.
- Kukkonen, E., 1978. Keiteleen järvialtaan sedimenttisarja ja siinä esiintyvä punaharmaa savikerros. Geologi 30 (2), 13–17.
- Lanne, E. & Pernu, T., 1974. Muhoksen muodostuman seismisesti määritetyt rajat. University Oulu. Dep. geophysics, Contrib. No 46, 12 p.
- Licari, G. R., 1978. Biogeology of the late pre-phanerozoic Beck Spring Dolomite of Eastern California. J. Paleont. 52 (4), 767-792.
- Licari, G. R. & Cloud, P., 1968. Eucaryotic nannofossils in kerogens from the pre-Paleozoic Windermere Series of Alberta. *In* Abstracts (Annual Meeting, 1968), Geol. Soc. Am., 174–175.
- Licari, G. R. & Cloud, P., 1972. Prokaryotic Algae Associated with Australian Proterozoic Stromatolites. Proc. Nat. Acad. Sci. U.S.A., 69, (9), 2500-2504.
- Licari, G. R., Cloud, P. E. & Smith, W. D., 1969. A new chroococcacean alga from the Proterozoic of Queensland. Proc. Nat. Acad. Sci. USA, 62, 56–62.
- Lipman, R. A. & Timofeev, V. B., 1957. Ob organicheskikh ostatkakh v dokembrii. Metodika geologicheskogo kartirovaniya metamorficheskikh kompleksov. Moscow.
- Lo, S. C., 1980. Microbial fossils from the lower Yudoma Suite, earliest Phanerozoic, eastern Siberia. Precambrian Res. 13 (2/3), 109–166.
- Lopuchin, A. S., 1976. Probable ancestors of Cyanophyta in sedimentary rocks of the Precambrian and Paleozoic. Geol. För. Stockholm Förh. 98, 297–315.
- Maithy, P. K., 1975. Micro-organisms from the Bushimay System (Late Precambrian) of Kanshi, Zaire. The Pa-

leobotanist 22 (2), 133-149.

- Manum, S., 1967. Microfossils from late Precambrian sediments around lake Mjøsa, Southern Norway. Norges Geol. Unders. Nr. 251 (5), 45–52.
- Marmo, V., 1959. Elämän merkeistä prekambrisissa kivissä. Terra 71 (3), 150–156.
- Matisto, A., 1969. On the microfossils of Corycium enigmaticum. Bull. Geol. Soc. Finland 41, 199–202.
- —, 1974. Corycium enigmaticum. Bull. Comm. géol. Finlande 268, 109 p.
- Mendelson, C. V. & Schopf, W., 1982. Proterozoic microfossils from the Sukhaya Tungusha, Shorikha and Yudoma Formations of the Siberian platforms, USSR. J. Paleont. 56 (1), 42–83.
- Moorman, M., 1974. Microbiota of the late Proterozoic Hector Formation, southwestern Alberta, Canada. J. Paleont. 48 (3), 524—539.
- Muir, M., 1976. Proterozoic microfossils from the Amelia Dolomite McArthur Basin, Northern Territory. Alcheringa 1, 143–158.
- Nagy, L. A., 1974. Transvaal stromatolite: first evidence for the diversification of cells about 2.2×10⁹ years ago. Science 183, 514–516.
- Naumova, S. N., 1960. Sporo- pyltsevye kompleksy rifeyskikh i nizhnekembriyskikh otlozheniy SSSR. In Stratigrafiya pozdnego dokembriya i kembriya. Moscow, Izdatelstvo AN SSSR, 109–116.
- —, 1968. Zonalnye kompleksy rastitelnykh mikrofossiliy dokembriya i nizhnego kembriya Yevrazii i ikh stratigraficheskoye znacheniye. *In* Stratigrafiya nizhnego paleozoya Tsentralnoy Yevropy. Moscow, Nauka, 30—39. (Zonal assemblages of Precambrian and Lower Cambrian deposits of Eurasia and their stratigraphic importance).
- Nykänen, O., 1959. Suomen geologinen kartta 1 : 100 000, lehdet 2441-2443, Raahe-Paavola. Kallioperäkartan selitys. 36 p.
- Oehler, J. H., Oehler, D. Z. & Muir, M. D., 1976. On the Significance of Tetrahedral Tetrads of Precambrian Algal Cells. Origins Life, 259–267.
- Okko, V., 1954. Muhossediments utbredning. Geologi 6 (5), 43.
- Peat, C.J., Muir, M. D., Plumb, K. A., McKirdy, D. M. & Norvick, M. S., 1978. Proterozoic microfossils from the Roper Group, Northern Territory, Australia. BMR Journal of Australian Geology & Geophysics, 3, 1–17.
- Pierce, D. & Cloud, P., 1979. New microbial fossils from ~ 1,3 billion-year-old rocks of eastern California. Geomicrobiol. J. 1, 295–309.
- Piispanen, R. & Lähdesmäki, P., 1983. Organic constituents from a Precambrian (2.2 Ga) fetid dolomitic skarn (stinkstone) from Posio, Finland. Terra cognita. The journal of the European Union of Geosciences. 3 (2—3), p. 219.

- Purokoski, P., 1958. Die schwefelhaltigen Tonsedimente in dem Lichte chemicher Forschung. Maatalouden tutkimuskeskus. Maatutkimuslaitos, Agro-geologisia julkaisuja N:o 70, 88 p.
- Pychova, N. G., 1973. Akritarkhi berkhnemotskogo gorizonta Irkutskogo amfiteatra. Izv. Akad. Nauk SSSR. Ser. Geol. 6, 127–132.
- Rankama, K., 1948. New evidence of the origin of pre-Cambrian carbon. Geol. Soc. Am. Bull. 59, 389–416.
- Rudavskaya, V. A., 1964. Fitoplankton pozdnego dokembriya i kembriya yuzhnoy chasti Sibirskoy platformy. *In* Sistematika i metody izucheniya iskopaemoy pyltsy i spor. Moscow, Nauka, 223–226.
- —, 1973. Novye vidy drevnikh rasteniy ibespozvonochnykh SSSR. Trudy Vnigri 318, 7. Leningrad.
- Schepeleeva, E. D., 1973. Raschlenenie Venda Russkoy Platformy no Akritarham. Mikrofossiili drevnejshjkh otlozhenij., 13—15.
- Schidlowski, M., 1979. Antiquity and evolutionary status of bacterial sulfate reduction: sulfur isotope evidence. Orgins Life 9, 299–311.
- Schopf, J. W., 1968. Microflora of the Bitter Springs formation, Late Precambrian, Central Australia. J. Paleont. 42, 651—688.
- —, 1970. Precambrian micro-organisms and evolutionary events prior to the origin of vascular plants. Biol. Revs. 45, 319—352.
- —, 1975. Precambrian paleobiology: Problems and perspectives. Ann. Rev. Earth Planet. Sci. 3, 213—249.
- , 1978. The evolution of the earliest cells. Sci. Am. 239 (3), 85–102.
- Schopf, J. W. & Barghoorn, E. S., 1969. Microorganisms from the Precambrian of South Australia. J. Paleont. 43 (1), 111–118.
- Schopf, J. W. & Blacic, J. M., 1971. New microorganisms from the Bitter Springs Formation (Late Precambrian) of the North-Central Amadeus basin, Australia. J. Paleont. 45 (6), 925—961.
- Schopf, J. W., Oehler, D. Z., Horodyski, R. J. & Kvenvolden, K. A., 1971. Biogenity and significance of the oldest known stromatolites. J. Paleont. 45 (3), 477–485.
- Schopf, W. J. & Fairchild, T. R., 1973. Late Precambrian Microfossils: a New Stromatolitic Biota from Boorthanna, South Australia. Nature 242, 537—538.
- Sederholm, J. J., 1910. Les roches préquaternaires de la Fennoscandia. Bull. Comm. Géol. Finlande 24, 39 p.
- Simonen, A., 1960. Pre-Quaternary rocks in Finland. Bull. Comm. Géol. Finlande 191, 49 p.
- —, 1980a. Suomen kallioperäkartta. Prequaternary rocks of Finland. Finlands berggrund. 1 : 1 000 000. Geologinen tutkimuslaitos. Geological Survey of Finland. Geologiska Forskningsanstalten.
- -, 1980b. The Precambrian in Finland. Geol. Surv. Finland. Bull. 304, 58 p.

- Simonen, A. & Kouvo, O., 1955. Sandstones in Finland. Bull. Comm. Géol. Finlande 168, 57—86.
- Sokolov, B. S., 1973. Vendian of northern Eurasia. In Pitcher, M. G. (ed.) Arctic Geology. Mem. Am. Ass. Petrol. Geol. 19, 204–218.
- Talvitie, J., 1974. ERTS winter imagery as a tool for tectonic and tectonophysical studies in the Baltic Shield, Finland. Dept. Geophysics. Univ. Oulu. Contr. 38, 174–184.
- Tappan, H. & Loeblich Jr., A. R., 1971. Surface sculpture of the wall in Lower Paleozoic acritarchs. Micropaleontology 17, 4, 385—410.
- Timofeev (Timofeyev), B. V., 1958. Über das Alter sächischer Grauwacken. Geologie (Berlin), Jg. 7, 826–845.
- —, 1959. Drevneyshaya flora Pribaltiki i ee stratigraficheskoye znacheniye. Trudy VNIGRI, 129, 320 p.
- —, 1962. Teodolitniy paleontologicheskiy stolik (noviy metod issledovaniya iskopayemogo mikroplanktona). (The paleontological theodolite stage. (A new method of investigationsfossil microplancton). Trudy VNIGRI, 196, 601—647.
- —, 1963. On organic remains in the Eocambrian of Norway. Norsk Geol. Tidskr. 43, 473—476.
- —, 1966. Mikropaleofitologicheskoye issledovaniye drevnikh svit (Micropaleophytological research into ancient strata). Akad. Nauk. SSSR, laboratoriya Geologii Dokembriya, Nauka, 240 p.
- —, 1969. Sfreomorfidy proterozoya. Akad. Nauk. SSSR, Institut Geologii i Geokhronologii Dokembriya, 146 p.
- -, 1970. Gigantic Sphaeromorphida in the Upper Pre-Cambrian. Rew. Palaeobot., Palynol. 10, 157-160.
- —, 1973. Mikrofitofossilii dokembriya Ukrainy. Akademiya Nauk SSSR, Institut Geologii i Geokhronologii Dokembriya, Nauka, Leningrad. 58 p.
- Timofeev, B. V., Choubert, G. & Faure-Miret, A., 1980. Achritarhs of the Precambrian in Mobile Zones. Earth-Sci. Rev. 16, 249–255.
- Tulkki, P., 1977. The Bottom of the Bothnian Bay. Merentutkimuslaitoksen julkaisu 241, 5-89.
- Tuominen, H. V., Aarnisalo, J. & Söderholm, B., 1973. Tectonic patterns in the central Baltic Shield. Bull. Geol. Soc. Finland 45, 205–217.
- Tyler, S. A. & Barghoorn, E. S., 1954. Occurrence of Structurally Preserved Plants in Pre-Cambrian Rocks of the Canadian Shield. Science 119, 606—608.
- Tynni, R., 1978. Muhoksen muodostuman mikrofossiilit. Geologinen tutkimuslaitos. Tutkimusraportti N:o 30, 18 p.
- Tynni, R. & Donner, J., 1980. A microfossil and sedimentation study of the Late Precambrian formation of Hailuoto, Finland. Geol. Surv. Finland, Bull. 311, 27 p., VIII Pl.
- Tynni, R. & Siivola, J., 1966. On the precambrian microfossil flora in the siltstone of Muhos, Finland. Bull.

38

Comm. Géol. Finlande 222, 127-133.

- Uutela, A., 1983. Kenttätutkimukset Muhoksen muodostuman alueella 25. 5.—23. 6. 1983. GTL, maaperäösaston raporttiarkisto. N:o P 13.5.107, 38 p. (+ 31 appendices).
- Veltheim, V., 1969. On the pre-Quaternary geology of the Bothnian Bay area in the Baltic Sea. Bull. Comm. Géol. Finlande 239, 1—56.
- Vidal, G., 1974. Late Precambrian microfossils from the basal sandstone unit of the Visingsö beds, south Sweden. Geol. Paleont. 8, 1—14.
- —, 1976. Late Precambrian microfossils from the Visingsö Beds in southern Sweden. Fossils and Strata 9, 57 p.
- Viluksela, E., 1950. Geologinen tiedonanto. Geologi 2 (3-4), p. 21.
- -, 1951. Der Belemnidenfund bei Kankari. Eine Berichtigung. Comp. Rend. Soc. Geol. Finlande 24, p. 241.
- Volkova, N. A., 1968. Akritarkhi dokembriyskich i nizhnekembriyiskikh otlozheniy Estonii. Problematics of

Riphean and Cambrian layers of the Russian Platform, Urals and Kazakhstan. Akad. Nauk SSSR, Geol. Inst. Trudy 188, 8–36.

- Volkova, N. A., Gnilovskaya, M. B., Lenden, K., Kiryanov, V. V., Paliy, V. M., Pashkyavichene, L. T., Piskun, L. T., Posti, E., Rozanov, A. Y., Urbanek, A., Fedonkin, M. A. & Jankauskas, T. V., 1979. Upper Precambrian and Cambrian paleontology of East European Platform. Nauka, Moscow, Akad. Nauk SSSR, Geolog. Instit. 212 p.
- Walter, M. R., Oehler, J. H. & Oehler, D. Z., 1976. Megascopic algae 1300 million years old from the Belt Supergroup: a reinterpretation of Walcott's Helminthoidichnites. J. Paleont. 50, 872–881.
- Wetzel, W., 1952. Beitrag zur Kenntnis des dan-zeitlichen Meeresplanktons. Geol. Jb. 66, 391–419.
- Winterhalter, B., Flodén, T., Ignatius, H., Axberg, S. & Niemistö, L., 1981. Geology of the Baltic Sea. In Voipio, A. (ed.), The Baltic Sea. Elsevier. 1–121.



A. Reddish and greenish grey siltstone at a depth of ca 162.5—167.2 m, Tupos drill core. B. Greenish grey varved siltstone, depth 153.36 m. C. Dark grey varved claystone, depth 218.70 m. D. Dark grey varved claystone, depth 234.10 m. E. Arkosic sandstone, depth 712.92 m. F. Arkosic sandstone, depth 969.0 m. G. Recrystallized carbonate tinted red by hematite in greenish grey siltstone, depth 165.47 m. Black area CuS. Bar equals 2 cm in Figs. B—F.



Sedimentary structures in thin sections from the l upos drill core. A. Graded bedding in varved claystone, depth 218.40 m.
B. Silty portion in partly recrystallized claystone, depth 218.40 m. C. Recrystallized carbonate around organic particles.
Horizontal section, claystone, depth 234.30 m. D. Recrystallized carbonate in coarse-grained portion of claystone, depth 218.70 m. Bar equals 0.5 mm Figs. A and B, in Figs. C and D 20 µm.



1—18. Relatively well preserved *Leiosphaeridia*-type fairly large spheromorphs from varved dark siltstones in the Tupos and Muhos I drill cores. Bar equals 20 μ .



Types of colonies of spheromorphs. 19–21, 28, 30, 31. Types of *Synsphaeridium*, 22–24, 26, 27. Types of sporangia, 29, 32. Vegetative (?) cell colonies, 25 Fragment of sporangium ? Bar equals 20 μ.



Types of colonies of spheromorphs. 33, 34, 39, 40. Synsphaeridium sp., 35, 36, 37. *Floritheca muhosensis* n. sp., 41. colony of spheromorphs, 38. *Gloecapsomorpha* sp., 42. *Palaeoanacystis* sp., 43–49, 51, 52. *Favosphaeridium* sp. 1., 50. *Bavlinella* typ., 53, 54, 55. *Palaeopleurocapsa* sp., 56–58. Colonies of small cells. Bar equals 10 μ.



Small spherical and ellipsoidal cell colonies and solitary cells. 59, 61, 62, 63, 64. *Eosynechococcus moorei*, 60, 65, 66, 74. *Sphaerophycus* aff. *parvum*, 67, 68, 69. *Microvalia spinosa*, 70. *Eomicrhystridium* sp., 71, 72, 73. *Microvalia* in colonies. Bar equals 10 μ.



Ellipsoidal and curved cells, ring-sheath. 75. *Leiovalia* sp., 76–83, 88. *Microvalia spinosa*, 84–87. Oval cells, 89–93. Oval cells with dentate outlines, 94, 95, 98, 99. *Eomicrhystridium* sp. 2., 96, 97, 100. *Lunulidia nana*, 101–102. Ring-sheath, 103. Problematic form. Bar equals 10 μ, except in Figs. 101 and 103 where it equals 50 μ.

Plate VIII



Spheromorphs with cellular inner structure. 104, 112. Symplassosphaeridium sp., 105—111, 113—121. Favosphaeridium type 2. Bar equals 10 μ .



Spheromorphs with a rough surface. 122–125. Trachysphaeridium levis, 126–129. Trachysphaeridium laminaritum, 130. Trachysphaeridium sp., 131. Trachysphaeridium joined with a lighter spheromorph, 132. Trachysphaeridium, twin form. Bar equals 20 μ .



Large spheromorphs. 133–135. Spheromorphs with smooth surfaces, densely or sparsely folded, 136. Cellular surface, possibly *Protosphaeridium* sp., 137. Large spheromorph with a nappy surface, estimated diameter 250 μ . Bar equals 20 μ .



Spheromorphs with vesicle surrounded entirely or at the equatorial zone by a veil-like outer membrane. 138–141. *Pterospermopsimorpha ornata*, 142, 147. Granomarginata sp., 143, 144, 145 (in thin section). *Pterospermella simica*, 146. ? *Granomarginata* sp. Bar equals 10 μ.



Spheromorphs with folded surface, mainly deformed forms of *Leiosphaeridia*. 148—150. Deformed form, resembling *Trachysphaeridium*, 151—168, 171—174. Deformed forms, resembling *Cymatiosphaera*, 169, 170. *Eosphaera* sp. Bar equals 10 μ .

Geological Survey of Finland, Bulletin 330

Plate XIII



Spheromorphs with discernible structural pattern on surface. 175–186. Turuchanica maculata, 187, 188. Turuchanica kulgunica (Jankauskas) n. comb., 189–191. Spheromorphs with granulated surface, 192. ? Spheromorph with granulated surface, 193, 195. Spheromorphs with reticulate surface, 194. Ooidium-type spheromorph (spinous structures on the left may be due to rupturing). Bar equals 10 μ .



Mainly deformed spheromorphs. 196, 197. Nucellosphaeridium sp., 198. Quadratic vesicle, 199–206. Spheromorphs patterned by mineral grains, 207–210. Flattened spheromorphs with discernible banding or wearing along the outline. Bar equals 10 μ .

Geological Survey of Finland, Bulletin 330

Plate XV



Deformed vesicles (211–224). 211–213. Octaedryxium type, 215. Polyedryxium type, 222–224. Vesicles deformed by heat, Tupos drill core, depth 388.4 m. Bar equals 10 μ .

Plate XVI



Electron micrographs of spheromorphs. 225, 226. Leiosphaeridia sp., 227. Synsphaeridium sp., 228. Synsphaeridium, vesicles completely flattened, 229. Group of small spheromorphs, 230. Eomicrhystridium sp. 1.



Electron micrographs of preserved and deformed spheromorphs. 231. Twin vesicle, 232. Flattened Synsphaeridium, 233. Sphaerophycus aff. parvum, 234. ? Turuchanica ribbon-punctata, 235. Ruptured spheromorph, 236. Leiosphaeridia sp., with surface patterned by mineral grains; common form.



Filamentous forms in thin sections (237–240, 243, 244) and in maceration preparations (241, 243, 245). 237–240, 242. Eomycetopsis sp., 241. Heliconema sp., 243. Filament with cystoid protuberances, 244. ? Fragment of a large filament, 245. ? Contortothrix sp.



Filamentous cyanophyta. 246. Giant filament, 247-249. Sheathlike tube, 250-253. Siphonophycus sp.



Problematic forms. 254-256. Granulated vesicles, 257-260, 263. Spirosaccus punctata, 261, 262, 264. Volyniella type.

Tätä julkaisua myy

VALTION PAINATUSKESKUS MARKKINOINTIOSASTO

Postimyynti PL 516 00101 HELSINKI 10 Puh. 90-539 011

Kirjakauppa Annankatu 44 00100 HELSINKI 10 Puh. 90-17341

Denna publikation säljes av

STATENS TRYCKERICENTRAL MARKNADSFÖRINGSAVDELNINGEN

Postförsäljning PB 516 00101 HELSINGFORS 10 Tel. 90-539 611

Bokhandel Annegatan 44 00100 HELSINGFORS 10 Tel. 90-17341 This publication can be obtained from

GOVERNMENT PRINTING CENTRE MARKETING DEPARTMENT

Bookshop Annankatu 44 00100 HELSINKI 10 Phone 90-17341

Orders from abroad: AKATEEMINEN KIRJAKAUPPA Keskuskatu 1 SF-00100 Helsinki 10

> ISBN 951-690-204-9 ISSN 0367-522X